

School of Psychology Ysgol Seicoleg

## Attachment informed working: considering attachment in caregiving in couple relationships, and in upskilling professionals working with children and young people.

Thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the

degree of:

## **Doctorate of Clinical Psychology (DClinPsy)**

South Wales Doctoral Programme in Clinical Psychology

Cardiff University

Laura Coote

## Supervised by: Dr. Marc Williams and Dr. Helen

## Kirkaldie

8<sup>th</sup> October 2019

Declarations	6
Acknowledgements	7
Summary of Thesis	8-9
Paper 1: A systematic review of the effects of attachment style or romantic relationships.	n caregiving in adult
Abstract	11-12
1. Introduction	12-16
1.1 Attachment	13-14
1.2 Caregiving and its relation to attachment	14-15
1.3 Caregiving in couple relationships	
Objectives	17
Method	17-22
Search Strategy	18
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	
Study Screening and Selection	20
Quality Assessment	21-22
Results	22-35
Data Extraction	22
Characteristics of Included Studies	
Quality Assessment narrative synthesis	
Summary of Main Findings	
Secure Attachment and Caregiving	
Avoidant Attachment and Caregiving	
Anxious Attachment and Caregiving	
Discussion	
Theoretical links	37-42
Limitations	40-42
Measurement Issues	41-42
AXIS tool	43
Potential biases	43

#### Contents

Measuring Attachment	44
Clinical Implications	45-46
Future Research	46-47
Conflict of Interest Declaration and Acknowledgment	48
References	49-60

Paper 2: Does attachment training 'upskill' and increase compassion satisfaction and reduce compassion fatigue in frontline staff?

Abstract	62-63
Introduction	64-70
1.1 Attachment	64-65
1.2 Attachment and Developmental/Complex Trauma	65-67
1.3 Compassionate caregiving	68-70
Hypotheses	71
Method	72-75
Participants	72
Measures	73-74
Procedure	75
Ethics	75
Results	76-94
Determining Normality	
Confirmatory Factor Analysis	78-80
Face Validity	81
Principal Component Analysis	82-84
Construct Validity	84-85
Within-Group Analysis	
Cluster Analysis	91-92
Discussion	93-99
Summary of main findings	93
Interpretation and theoretical links	93-96
Limitations	96-97

Future research and service applications	97-98
Wider applications	98-99
Conflict of Interest Declaration	100
References10	01-109
List of Tables and Figures for Paper 2	110

Paper 3: Critical Appraisal; a reflective paper on the process of completing the systematic review and the empirical paper
Introduction112
Paper 1: Systematic Review112-119
Designing a research question112-114
Quality Assessment114-116
Other methodological issues116-117
Theoretical Implications118-119
Implications for clinical practice119
Paper 2: Empirical Study120-126
Developing a research question120-121
Method121-122
Limitations122
Data Analysis122-124
Theoretical Implications124-125
Future Research125
Service development126
Thesis process
Proposals for dissemination126-127
Personal and Professional Reflections127
References128-131
Appendices132-177
Appendix 1: Author Guidelines for Journal of Personality and Social Psychology132-134
Appendix 2: Appraisal Tool for Cross Sectional Studies (AXIS)135

Appendix 3: Justifications for critical domains in AXIS
Appendix 4: Table 3: Study characteristics
Appendix 5: Table 4: Participant characteristics
Appendix 6: Table 5: Variables measured and interaction method144-147
Appendix 7: Table 6: Caregiving behaviour coding schemes
Appendix 8: Author Guidelines for Journal of Attachment and Human Development
Appendix 9: Service specification157
Appendix 10: Tool: Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL)158-160
Appendix 11: Knowledge, confidence, worries questionnaire161-163
Appendix 12: Skills development session model flowchart
Appendix 13: Consent Form165-166
Appendix 14: Research and Development study approval letter167
Appendix 15: Ethics Committee study approval confirmation168
Appendix 16: Confirmatory factor analysis model: unstandardized estimates (covariances)
Appendix 17: Confirmatory factor analysis model: standardized estimates (correlations)
Appendix 18: Face validity questionnaire for KCW

#### Declarations

#### **STATEMENT 1**

This thesis is being submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the doctorate in clinical psychology (DClinPsy).

Signed \_\_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

#### **STATEMENT 2**

This work has not been submitted in substance for any other degree or award at this or any other university or place of learning, nor is it being submitted concurrently for any other degree or award (outside of any formal collaboration agreement between the University and a partner organisation)

Signed \_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

#### **STATEMENT 3**

I hereby give consent for my thesis, if accepted, to be available in the University's Open Access repository (or, where approved, to be available in the University's library and for inter-library loan), and for the title and summary to be made available to outside organisations, subject to the expiry of a University-approved bar on access if applicable.

Signed \_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

#### DECLARATION

This thesis is the result of my own independent work, except where otherwise stated, and the views expressed are my own. Other sources are acknowledged by explicit references. The thesis has not been edited by a third party beyond what is permitted by Cardiff University's Use of Third Party Editors by Research Degree Students Procedure.

Signed \_\_\_\_\_\_ Date \_\_\_\_\_

WORD COUNT \_\_\_\_19,788\_\_\_\_\_\_

(Excluding summary, acknowledgements, declarations, contents pages, appendices, tables, diagrams and figures, references, bibliography, footnotes and endnotes)

#### Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank all the staff in the Gwent Attachment service for developing and facilitating the attachment training and consultations. Thank you to Dr. Helen Kirkaldie for providing the opportunity to work on this project. I would also like to express my gratitude to all the frontline staff in public services who work tirelessly to provide good services for children and young people with attachment and developmental/complex trauma. This work would not have been possible without them.

Secondly, thank you to my research supervisor Dr Marc Williams for his guidance throughout the process, particularly his comments on writing style. Thank you to Dr Reginald Morris for his support with statistical analysis.

Thank you to my mum, dad and my siblings Sam, Tom and Emily, and to my wonderful friends for always believing in me, listening to me over the years and for always providing your support and love. Lastly, to my partner James, thank you for your support, your encouragement, your hugs, and for providing the many required snacks.

#### Thesis Summary

This thesis includes three papers; a systematic review, an empirical paper and a critical appraisal reflection paper.

Paper 1 presents a systematic review examining the effect of attachment style on caregiving behaviour in couples. Caregiving behaviour was observed by videotaped interaction in laboratory settings. Ten studies met the inclusion criteria. Data was extracted and the quality of each study was assessed. Findings generally suggested that not all people are easily able to provide responsive caregiving to their partners, and this may be partly based on their attachment styles, however there were inconsistencies. Measurement issues, sampling biases and low-quality ratings rendered tentative conclusions that cannot be generalised beyond young people in relationships of a relatively short duration.

Paper 2 presents an empirical paper examining the effect attachment training on compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, knowledge, confidence and worries in frontline staff in social, health and education services, working with children and young people with attachment and developmental/complex trauma. Compassion satisfaction and fatigue did not change significantly before and after the training. Knowledge and confidence significantly increased and worries significantly decreased before and after training. Factor analyses suggested further work is required for validation of the knowledge, confidence and worries questionnaire. Theoretical and clinical implications of the findings are bespoke to the service facilitating the training.

Paper 3 presents a critical appraisal of papers 1 and 2, and of the research process as whole. This paper includes a reflection on strengths and weaknesses of each paper, the methodologies used, implications of the findings and suggestions for future research, with personal reflections and what I have learnt in terms of my professional development throughout. Paper 1 has been prepared in accordance with the author guidelines for submission to the journal of personality and social psychology (Appendix 1).

### **Paper 1: Systematic Review**

# A systematic review of the effects of attachment style on caregiving in adult romantic relationships

Word count (excluding figures/tables): 7,517

#### Abstract

Objective: Attachment style may be a factor that influences effective caregiving in romantic relationships. The aim of this review was to systematically review the published literature relating to attachment style differences in observable caregiving behaviours in couples.

Methods: Electronic and hand searches were conducted to identify all published literature relating to the objective. Data were narratively synthesised, and quality assessed using the AXIS tool.

Results: Searches identified 1187 studies, 10 were included. Securely attached caregivers showed higher levels of support and positive behaviours, and lower levels of negative behaviours. Avoidantly attached caregivers were less effective caregivers; offered less caregiving and support, were less responsive, less likely to notice and understand their partner's anxiety, and more likely to react with anger. Findings for anxiously attached caregivers were inconsistent, either finding no associations, higher levels of support, or more unhelpful/unrequired help. Most of the studies had low quality assessment ratings, except for one, which was deemed of moderate quality.

Conclusion: The research suggests that not all people are easily able to provide responsive caregiving to their partners, and this may be partly based on their attachment styles. However, measurement issues in study design, outcome measures, sampling biases, and low-quality ratings mean that the conclusions drawn are tentative and cannot be generalised beyond young people in relationships of relatively short duration.

Clinical implications: Attachment focused interventions may be beneficial for psychological wellbeing within couples, but this cannot be recommended with

confidence until higher quality research is conducted on wider samples from longerterm relationships.

Key Words: Attachment, caregiving, romantic relationships, systematic review.

.

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Attachment

Attachment theory postulates that we are born into the world with an attachment system that activates in times of distress (Bowlby, 1982). This serves an evolutionary function: as new-borns, we are dependent on others for our survival and display behaviour designed to elicit care (Bowlby, 1982). Based on others' responses to our distress, in particular, those of the primary caregiver, we develop 'internal working models' which represent information about ourselves (worthiness of care), other people (dependability and responsiveness) and relationships (predictability, availability to provide support) (Feeney & Collins, 2001). These 'internal working models' we develop lead to certain attachment behaviours, which can be broadly categorised as either a secure or insecure "attachment style" (Ainsworth, Blehar, Waters, & Wall, 1978).

Ainsworth's (1978) 'strange situation' assessment (monitoring the child's reaction when a caregiver leaves the room with a stranger present) provided a classification of three attachment styles, secure, anxious and avoidant (the latter two being types of insecure attachment). A secure attachment style is characterised by the child becoming upset when the caregiver leaves, becoming happy when they return, and seeking comfort from them as their 'secure base' (a safe place that also encourages exploration; Ainsworth et al, 1978). Available, warm and responsive caregivers contribute to the development of a secure attachment style. An anxious attachment style is characterised by children who are very distressed when separated from their caregivers and are not comforted or reassured when the caregiver returns. An

avoidant style is characterised by children who will not seek comfort from their caregiver and shows little preference between a caregiver and a stranger (Ainsworth et al, 1978).

Our need for care does not end in childhood, and often, it is romantic partners who provide us with care in times of need (Feeney & Collins, 2001). Hazan and Shaver (1987) proposed that the same three attachment styles in infancy with a primary caregiver (secure, anxious, avoidant) can be applied between couples in adult romantic relationships.

#### 1.2. Caregiving and its relation to attachment

Bowlby (1982) theorised that in addition to an attachment system, which is designed to elicit care, we also have a caregiving system; with a set of behaviours intended to provide proximity and comfort to those in distress (Cassidy, 1999). Research has shed light on how adult attachment styles affect not only how we receive care, but also how effectively we give care (Feeney & Collins, 2001). If a person has experienced warm and responsive caregiving early in life, which is known to encourage the development of a secure attachment style, then their caregiving systems are primed to provide support and compassion to another person in need (Mikulincer, Shaver, Gillath, & Nitzberg, 2005). Caregiving effectiveness includes behaviours such as providing a secure base, offering support and comfort, and encouraging autonomy (Feeney & Collins, 2001). In order to do this in a relationship, one must be competent in taking another's perspective, expressing empathy and using effective conflict resolution;

these features are often seen in people with secure attachment styles (Fraley & Roisman, 2015).

#### 1.3 Caregiving in couple relationships

Johnson, Lafontaine and Dalgleish (2015) propose that during distress in couple relationships, one partner's attachment system triggers the other partner's caregiving system, intending to restore safety and reduce distress. Attachment insecurity may inhibit effective caregiving, as that person will focus on restoring their own sense of security before attending to their partner's need for comfort (Johnson et al, 2015). People with anxious attachment styles tend to experience difficulties providing proportional, responsive care to their partners due to a preoccupation with their own distress and relationship needs (Collins & Feeney, 2000, Johnson et al, 2015). People with avoidant attachment styles are less able to notice and recognize attachment signals in their partner, are dismissive of their own and their partner's needs for support, express less empathy, are less willing, thus provide less support (Simpson, Rholes & Nelligan, 1992).

Research proposes that people with secure attachment styles provide optimal caregiving (high responsiveness and empathy) in relationships (e.g., Collins & Read, 1990; see Mikulincer & Shaver, 2009, for a review), and also provide support contingent to the situation (Simpson, Rholes, Oriña, & Grich, 2002). Mikulincer and Shaver (2015) report that people who have secure attachment styles are not driven by egoistic motives (e.g. to improve own mood) when providing care to others. This suggests that they are less preoccupied by their own anxiety, thus have a higher

availability of cognitive and emotional resources to dedicate to their partner (Johnson et al, 2015). People in these relationships report higher relationship quality and satisfaction, and show greater psychological and physical health, reduced activity to stressors, greater coping capacity, and resilience (Feeney, Van Vleet, & Jakubiak, 2015).

Research on attachment security and caregiving in couples has used a variety of methodologies, from questionnaire only self-report methods to some observational methods in laboratories or field settings. Cobb, Davila, Bradbury (2001, p. 1141) state that *"relatively little research has examined associations between security and observable couple behaviour".* The choice of methods has implications, as self-report can be unreliable, and it is behaviour that ultimately impacts on partners in relationships.

#### 1.4. Summary

The research indicates that effective caregiving in relationships is important for relationship satisfaction and the physical and psychological health for both partners, but not all caregivers are equally able to respond to their partner's needs successfully (Collins and Feeney, 2000). There is a variety in the methods used and the outcomes of the impact of attachment on caregiving ability, and a lack of observational methods to assess caregiving in couple relationships.

#### Objectives

This study aims to determine whether observable caregiving behaviour in couple relationships is associated with attachment style. Another aim is to review the quality of the included studies in weighing up the conclusions that can be drawn from them, to inform recommendations for future research.

#### Methods

#### Search strategy

This review follows the principles outlined by the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analysis (PRISMA) group (Moher, Liberati, Tetzlaff & Altman, 2009). The review was registered on the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO, 2019, CRD42019127223).

Initial scoping searches were developed with the expertise of a librarian in the University. Following several scoping searches, search terms were refined, and 5 bibliographic databases were searched for relevant published literature. Electronic databases included: PsychINFO, CINAHL, Medline, Embase, and Scopus. Table 1 illustrates the keywords used to search titles, abstracts and full content. The way in which keywords were entered was modified according to each databases' specific search engine features.

Attachment OR attachment behav*	AND	Couples OR romantic relationships OR intimate relationships	AND	Caregiv* OR social support OR sensitivity OR empathy
--	-----	---	-----	---

Backward citation chaining was completed by examining the reference lists of included full-text studies, as well as relevant theoretical book chapters to ensure a thorough strategy. Searches were repeated in April 2019 to check for any relevant new publications.

#### Inclusion and Exclusion criteria

All titles and abstracts were screened for basic requirements. Full texts of the relevant abstracts were then further assessed against the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Inclusion criteria included; an adult sample in couple relationships, an observable quantitative measure of caregiving behaviour, a validated measure of attachment style, from a peer review journal and available in English. Exclusion criteria included samples in pre-adult relationships (below 18 years) a clinical population (e.g. papers that specifically sampled people with clinical mental health diagnoses), self-reported caregiving, caregiving to self and dissertations. Figure 1 outlines the searching process.

The researcher decided to exclude 'grey literature' such as dissertations for several reasons; these papers are harder to locate, the peer review status is often unclear,

and it is harder to clearly report on methods (Boland, Cherry & Dickson, 2017). Furthermore, including dissertations does not change the overall outcome of systematic reviews despite the considerable time and effort required to obtain the papers (Vickers & Smith, 2000).



Figure 1: PRISMA flow diagram illustrating the search strategy on published studies of attachment and caregiving in adult romantic relationships.

#### **Data Extraction**

Data extraction was completed before the quality assessment, to be blind to the quality of each study and reduce bias (Boland, Cherry & Dickson, 2017). The sole researcher extracted the data, and, for accuracy, a fellow researcher checked the domains of extracted data and data extraction method.

#### **Quality Assessment**

Studies were assessed for quality using the Appraisal Tool for Cross-Sectional Studies (AXIS, appendix 2) (Downes, Brennan, Williams & Dean, 2016). The AXIS tool was deemed most appropriate as it provided options of 'yes/no/don't know' as responses, rather than a numerical score. This better conveys the weighted qualitative importance of the 'critical' elements of the quality assessment (Downes et al, 2016). However, not obtaining a final quality score can also be a limitation, as it is helpful when judging the overall weaknesses of studies. To combat this limitation, a similar approach by Shea et al (2017) with the AMSTAR-2 quality assessment tool was used.

#### Method used to categorise quality weaknesses

In quality assessment, Shea et al (2017, p.5) recommends that researchers "*should consider the potential impact of an inadequate rating for each item*" by considering which items are 'critical' and which items are 'non-critical' within the context of the types of studies.

- The researcher reviewed each item of the AXIS and considered whether it was critical or non-critical.
- Table 2 details the seven chosen 'critical' domains by the researcher.
- Each item deemed as critical was checked and agreed with the research supervisor. Appendix 3 details justifications for each selected item.
- All other items were deemed as non-critical.

Table 2: Chosen critical domains

Domain	
Item 2	Was the study design appropriate for the stated aims?
Item 5	Was the sample frame taken from an appropriate population base so that it closely represented the target/reference population under investigation?
Item 8	Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured appropriate to the aims of the study?
Item 9	Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured correctly using instruments/measurements that had been trialled, piloted or published previously?
Item 10	Is it clear what was used to determined statistical significance and/or precision estimates? (e.g. p-values, confidence intervals)
Item 15	Were the results internally consistent?
Item 17	Were the authors' discussions and conclusions justified by the results?

Based on Shea et al. (2017), the following categorising system was developed; 0 critical flaws and fewer than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'high' quality, 1 critical flaw or no critical flaws but more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'moderate', 2 critical flaws or 1 critical flaw plus more than 4 non-critical flaws were assigned as 'low', 3+ critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'eemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'a critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'a critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws was deemed as 'critical flaws was deemed as 'cr

#### Inter-rater reliability

A second rater quality assessed 25% of the final papers. The kappa calculation between raters was 0.71, which indicates substantial agreement.

#### Results

Data extraction tables are included in the appendix. Table 3 (appendix 4) reports on the study characteristics across the 10 included studies. Table 4 (appendix 5) details the participant characteristics, and Table 5 reports on attachment and caregiving measures, other measured variables, and the caregiving interaction method (appendix 6).

#### **Narrative Synthesis**

**Study characteristics.** The 10 included studies were carried out between 1992 and 2016. Eight of the studies were cross-sectional/observational designs, and 2 were randomised-experimental/observational designs (Feeney & Collins, 2001, Mikulincer, Shaver, Bar-On, & Sahdra, 2014). The studies were carried out in various locations: eight in the United States, one in New Zealand and two in Israel. Most of the settings were in psychology departments in universities and recruited participants from an undergraduate participant pool in exchange for course credit or paid participation. Other settings included health centres (Jayamaha, Girme & Overall, 2016, Mikulincer, Shaver, Sahdra, & Bar-On, 2013) and a marriage licensing office (Cobb et al, 2001). Two of the studies included a follow up (Cobb et al, 2001, Jayamaha et al, 2016).

**Participant characteristics.** The number of participants in samples ranged from 61 to 214. One study reported a follow-up sample size of 47 (study 1, Jayamaha et al, 2016). Three of the studies reported age ranges, ranging from 17 – 36 years. Common mean ages were in the early 20's. Three of the studies reported length of relationship ranges (between 3 months – 216 months), with most relationships within the first 2 years. Most of the studies reported the relationship stage; most participants were in exclusive dating relationships (ranges varied in studies 63-100%). In 2 studies, most participants were engaged, cohabiting or married (Jayamaha et al, 2016, Cobb et al, 2001). Three of the studies reported participants' ethnicity, with the highest percentages White Caucasian (from 61%-97%), followed by Asian-American (from 13%-46%) and Latina/Chicana (15-16%). Three of the studies reported varying details of socioeconomic status of participants, with the majority middle class, with college/university education. The sexuality of the couples was mostly heterosexual, or not reported, 1 study reported 1 same-sex relationship in the sample (Collins & Feeney, 2000).

#### **Attachment measures**

All studies used validated measures of attachment style, either the adult attachment questionnaire (AAQ; Rholes, Simpson, & Oriña, 1999, Simpson et al, 2002, Jayamaha et al, 2016), the adult attachment interview (AAI; Simpson et al, 2002), the experiences in close relationships scale (ECR; Monin, Feeney, & Schulz, 2012, Mikulincer et al, 2013, Mikulincer et al, 2014), the adult attachment scale (AAS; Collins & Feeney, 2000), the relationships questionnaire (RQ; Feeney & Collins, 2001, Collins & Feeney, 2000, Cobb et al, 2001) or a Likert-type version of the Hazan and Shavers (1987)

measure of three attachment styles (Simpson et al, 1992). Simpson et al (1992) also used the relationship closeness inventory (RCI; a validated measure that measures the degree of closeness and interdependence in a relationship, Berscheid, Snyder, & Omoto, 1989) as a secondary measure. Six of the studies used more than 1 measure.

#### **Caregiving measures**

**Observer coding schemes.** Coding schemes designed for observational studies generally measured caregiving across the papers. Studies employed the use of 2-5 independent raters (blind to the aims of the study) to code caregivers on a variety of behaviours. See table 6 in appendix 7 for further details of each coding scheme. Intraclass correlations (ICCs; McGraw & Wong, 1996) or inter-rater reliabilities were computed to estimate inter-observer reliability. Generally, across all studies, ICCs were high, and analyses included an average of the coder's ratings.

**Caregiving interaction method.** Couples were videotaped discussing a personal goal in 3 of the studies (Cobb et al, 2001, Jayamaha et al, 2016, Mikulincer et al, 2014 study two), a personal or stressful problem that was not a common source of conflict in the relationship in 3 of the studies (Mikulincer et al, 2014, study one, Mikulincer et al, 2013, Collins & Feeney, 2000) and the remaining 4 studies involved a videotaped stress manipulation (Feeney & Collins, 2001, Monin et al, 2012, Rholes et al, 1999, Simpson et al, 1992, 1999). For example, one member of the couple was told they would be involved in activities 'that many people find distressing' or to give a speech to a panel of judges. Feeney and Collins (2001) did not use videotaped interaction but allowed caregivers to write a 'supportive note' to their distressed partner, which were later coded.

Four studies did not inform participants of the video-recording, until afterwards, thus unobtrusively observed interactions (Monin et al, 2012, Simpson et al, 1992, 1999, Rholes et al, 1999). Three studies informed couples that the interaction would be videotaped (Mikulincer et al, 2013, 2014, Collins & Feeney, 2001). The remaining studies did not state whether participants were aware they were going to be videotaped before couple discussions (Cobb et al, 2001, Jayamaha et al 2016).

#### Other variables measured

Most studies measured other variables of interest. Table 5 provides details of this. Depending on the type of conversation videotaped, variables such as 'perceived stressfulness' of the problem and pre/post mood were of interest. Relationship level variables such as trust, love, relationship quality, commitment, satisfaction and closeness were commonly measured. Studies used a mixture of validated and bespoke Likert scale measures. Four of the studies used Likert scales (Collins & Feeney, 2001, Collins & Feeney, 2000, Jayamaha et al, 2016, Monin et al, 2012).

#### Quality assessment narrative synthesis

Table 7 provides details of each item rating for each study and the comparisons between each study in terms of 'critical' domains relevant to designs and outcomes.

The researcher followed the AMSTAR-2 (Shea et al, 2017) recommendation to categorise the studies as follows: studies that contained no critical flaws and less than

4 non-critical flaws were assigned as 'high' quality; studies with one critical flaw, or no critical flaws but more than 4 non-critical flaws were deemed as 'moderate', studies with two critical flaws or one critical flaw plus more than 4 non-critical flaws were assigned as 'low'; studies with three or more critical flaws of two critical flaws and more than 4 non critical flaws were deemed as critically low quality. As seen in table 7, most studies were deemed of low quality except for 1, which was deemed of moderate quality (Collins & Feeney, 2000).

Conflicts of interest are unlikely to be indicated with this topic. Six of the papers acknowledged the source of funding, and the remaining cited the relevant department in which the research took place. Collins and Feeney (2000) and Jayamaha et al (2016) were assigned 'yes' for items 8 and 9 as the studies used validated attachment measures and caregiving behaviour coding schemes, however, the mediational analysis was drawn from the data from Likert scales, limiting the applicability of the conclusions that were based on this analysis. Items related to sampling were globally weak across all the studies. The target population was clear in all of the studies (adults in intimate relationships); however, the sampling frame was often in undergraduate pools, thus offered samples made up of young adults (mean ages in late teens and 20's) and relationship lengths of approximately 18 months. There is a bias inherent in the widely used opportunistic sampling method, most participants took part in exchange for university credit, with their partner's attending out of good will. Many of the studies were unable to collect data on non-responders to the advertisements for the studies, due to this sampling method. Many of the studies were also assigned a 'no' for item 17 for the same reason; there was no discussion of the selection and

sampling bias. Only one paper included a justification of this bias in the discussion, therefore was deemed of moderate quality (Collins & Feeney, 2000).

All of the papers appropriately reported significant results however, some of the papers (Collins & Feeney, 2000; Feeney & Collins, 2001; Jayamaha et al, 2016; Mikulincer et al, 2013, 2014, Monin et al, 2012) also reported results that were non-significant without using the appropriate language, for example reporting that the statistic was lower or higher and the p-value, but not using the term 'non-significant', instead using language such as 'marginally significant' or 'approached significance'. Most of the papers did not make ethical procedures clear, such as informed consent or the right to withdraw. Improved reflection of sampling bias and more explicit statements of ethics would have benefitted the global quality of the selected studies

#### Table 7: Quality assessment using the AXIS tool.

Study	1. Aims	2. Design	<ol> <li>Sample size Justification</li> </ol>	4. Target Population	5. Sampling Frame	6. Selection	7. Non- responders	8. Variables measured appropriate to aims	9. Validity and Reliability	10. Statistics	11. Replicable method	12. Basic Data	13. Concerns about response rate?	14. Non-responders described?	15. Internally Consistent	16. Comprehensive Description	17. Justified discussion/ conclusion	18. Limitations	19. Conflicts of interest	20. Ethical Approval	OVERALL QUALITY
Cobb et al (2001)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y (√)	Y (√)	Y	Y	Ν	Ν	N (X)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Collins & Feeney (2000)	Y	<b>Y(</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	Ν	Ν	N/A	Y (√)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Ν	DK	Moderate
Feeney & Collins (2001)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y (</b> √)	<b>Y (</b> √)	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Ν	Ν	N/A	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Jayamaha et al (2016)	Y	<b>Y(</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	Y	Ν	N/A	Y (√)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Mikulincer et al (2014)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y (√)	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Y	DK	DK	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	Y	Low
Mikulincer et al (2013)	Y	<b>Y(</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	Y	Ν	N/A	Y (√)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	Y	Low
Monin et al (2012)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y (√)	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Y	Ν	N/A	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Rholes et al (1999)	Y	<b>Y(</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	Ν	Ν	N/A	Y (√)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Simpson et al (2002)	Y	<b>Y (</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y (√)	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	Y	Ν	N/A	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	DK	Low
Simpson et al (1992)	Y	<b>Y(</b> √)	Ν	Y	N (X)	Ν	Ν	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	<b>Y(</b> √)	Y	Ν	Ν	N/A	<b>Y (</b> √)	Y	N (X)	Y	Ν	Y	Low

NB: Y= yes, N = No, DK = don't know, and N/A = not applicable. Bold items were deemed as critical. Ticks refer to critical item met; crosses outline where critical items were not met. 0 critical flaws and less than 4 non-critical flaws = high, 1 critical flaw or no critical flaws but more than 4 non-critical flaws = moderate, 2 critical flaws or 1 critical flaw or no critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws = critical flaws or 1 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws = critical flaws or 1 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws = critical flaws or 1 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws = critical flaws or 1 critical flaws or 2 critical flaws plus more than 4 non-critical flaws = critical flaws = crit

#### Summary of main findings

Table 8 outlines the outcomes of each study. The following discussion of the main findings are presented tentatively considering the low-quality ratings.

Table 8: brief descriptions of outcomes of each study, associated p values, and overall quality rating

Table 8: brief	descriptions of outcomes of each study, associated p values, and	overall q	uality rating
Study	Outcomes	р	Quality
Cobb et al	Spouse's positive perceptions (of partner's security) increased	< .05	
(2001)	effective support behaviour, which was associated with		Low
	satisfaction (held for follow up for support recipients).		
Collins &	Partners higher in attachment-anxiety were poorer caregivers;		
Feeney	provided less instrumental support, were less responsive and	<.05	
(2000)	displayed more negative support behaviours, when partners were less effective at seeking support.		Moderate
	Supportive behaviours increased when partner's needs were clear.		
Feeney & Collins	Avoidant caregivers were instrumentally supportive in the low need condition but not in high.	< .05	
(2001)	Anxious caregivers were instrumentally supportive in the high need condition and emotionally supportive in both need conditions.	< .05	Low
Jayamaha et al (2016)	Increased negative support behaviour from anxious support providers when they felt less valued and appreciated.	<.001	Low
Mikulincer et al (2014)	Avoidant attachment (dispositional) was associated with less responsive caregiving.	<.01- <.05	
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Caregiving behaviour was more responsive when mental representations of security providers are primed.		Low
	Security priming buffered the effects of avoidant attachment on secure base provision but not the provision of a safe-haven.	<.01	
Mikulincer	Dispositional and experimentally induced attachment security	<.01-	
et al (2013)	was associated with greater responsiveness and supportiveness toward a partner.	<.05	
	Security priming overrode the detrimental effects of cognitive depletion and dispositional avoidance on caregiving behaviour,		Low
	and the tendency of caregivers high in attachment anxiety to	<.01-	
	provide less care following cognitive depletion.	<.05	
Monin et al (2012)	Anxiously attached caregivers were not less effective in their caregiving behaviour than less anxiously attached caregivers but reacted to their partner's anxiety expression with more personal	<.01	
	distress. Avoidant-attached caregivers were less effective caregivers; less likely to perceive their partner's anxiety expression, and when they did recognise it, they interpreted the expression more negatively than less avoidant caregivers.	<.01- <.05	Low

Rholes et al (1999)	Avoidant-attached men displayed more anger if partners were more distressed, but not if partners sought higher levels of 'physical' support.	<.05	Low
Simpson et	Secure women provided more support if partners sought more	<.05	
al (2002)	and offered less if partner sought less (situationally contingent caregiving).		Low
	Less avoidant women provided more support than the more avoidant women (main effect).		
Simpson et	Secure men (caregivers) offered more support as partners	<.05	Low
al (1992)	display increased distress; avoidant men provide less support.		

NB: Hierarchical regression analyses were used in all the studies to assess associations between attachment style and caregiving. Where regression wasn't used, the statistical test used is reported.

As mentioned, all but one of the papers were deemed of low quality. The findings from Collins and Feeney (2000) as the only moderate quality paper will be discussed first. Collins and Feeney (2000) found no significant associations between avoidant attachment and poorer caregiving, whereas all the low-quality papers did. Collins and Feeney reported that caregivers high in attachment anxiety were poorer caregivers, were significantly less responsive, provided less instrumental support, and showed higher negative caregiving behaviours. Lastly, caregivers high in attachment anxiety provided significantly higher levels of support when their partners' needs were clear, but low levels when the needs were not clear (Collins & Feeney, 2000).

As tables 7 and 8 show, the remaining nine papers were deemed of low quality. However, there were similarities in some of the findings across attachment styles across the lower quality papers which are discussed below.

#### Secure attachment style and caregiving (low quality papers)

The papers discussed in this section were all deemed of low quality for the following reasons; selection biases within the sampling frame and method of recruiting participants, and no justification for the methodological issues in the discussions and conclusions (with the exception of Cobb et al, 2001). As such, their findings are to be interpreted with caution.

When papers considered secure attachment, they usually did so by comparing high scorers on either anxious or avoidant attachment, and low scorers (i.e., more secure), rather than reporting on secure attachment per se. However, two papers did specifically categorise carers as secure (Simpson et al, 1992, Simpson et al, 2002), and one mentions a positive perception of a partner's attachment security (i.e. a perception that a partners attachment is secure) (Cobb et al, 2001). With secure caregivers, Simpson et al (1992) found significantly greater support provision, particularly when there were higher levels of partner anxiety. Simpson et al (2002) found an interaction effect, in which caregivers scoring higher on security on the AAI, who also had partners with higher support seeking, offered the most support. Even a positive perception of a partner's attachment security influenced caregiving; spouse's positive perceptions of partners were associated with significantly lower levels of negative behaviour and higher levels of positive behaviour, even when controlling for satisfaction (Cobb et al, 2001). There was also a significant association between spouses' security and their perceptions of partners security, indicating that spouse's perceptions of partners were based in part on how spouses saw themselves (Cobb et al, 2001).

#### Avoidant- attachment style and caregiving (low quality papers)

All but 1 of the studies (Collins & Feeney, 2000, moderate quality) reported an association between avoidant attachment style and less effective caregiving behaviours. The papers discussed in this section were all deemed of low quality for a range of reasons. First, many evidenced biases in how they selected and recruited their participants. For example, although papers defined the target population as 'couples', none of them acknowledged the sampling frame used (e.g. university samples; with the exception of Cobb et al, 2001), and applied findings and conclusions to all couple relationships despite a frame that was not necessarily representative of the entire target population. Measurement reliability and validity was another weakness of the low-quality studies; although, as discussed, many papers used some validated measures, most also used non-validated Likert measures designed for the purpose of the individual study. Given the low quality of these papers, the summary provided in this section is to be read with caution.

Simpson et al (1992) reported that as care-seekers discussed their feelings more extensively, all caregivers made some form of a supportive comment, however, the tendency was less pronounced in avoidant men (beta=0.89 secure men, 0.29 avoidant men). In their later study, caregivers scoring lower on avoidant attachment provided significantly more support than caregivers scoring high on avoidant attachment (Simpson et al, 2002). Caregivers high in avoidant attachment were significantly less likely to notice and understand their partner's expression of anxiety (Monin et al, 2012). When they did perceive partners expressions of anxiety, they reacted with significantly more anger, particularly when support seeker anxiety was high, which lead Monin et

al (2012) to conclude that avoidant caregivers were significantly less effective caregivers. Mikulincer et al (2013) reported that the higher the avoidance score, the lower the responsiveness towards a partner. Mikulincer et al (2014) corroborated this; the higher a caregiver's avoidance score, the lower their responsiveness to a partner's disclosure or a partner's exploration attempts.

There was a trend in the data to suggest that avoidant caregivers were providing particularly low levels of care when care seekers were most in need; for example, when anxiety was high. Simpson et al (1992) reported significantly lower levels of support provision from caregivers high in avoidance when partner anxiety was high. Caregiver avoidance was associated with significantly poorer caregiving behaviours in the high need but not the low need condition (support seekers needs) (Feeney and Collins, 2001). Their partners perceived the notes written by caregivers in the high need condition as significantly less supportive as caregivers' level of avoidance increased (Feeney and Collins, 2001). Likewise, during the 'stress period' (where women were subjected to threat of a stressor), more avoidant men displayed more anger if their partners were more distressed, which resulted in providing significantly less support (Rholes et al, 1999). As distress increased, avoidant caregivers did not increase their level of support (Feeney & Collins, 2001).

Many of the above results still stood after researchers controlled for potential confounders such as caregiver's neuroticism, extraversion and relationship satisfaction (Simpson et al, 2002). Priming avoidant-attached caregivers with the names of security figures significantly increased responsiveness, and this effect was

strongest for the caregivers scoring highest on avoidance (Mikulincer et al, 2013). Caregiver's avoidant attachment was significantly associated with lower ratings of caregiver responsiveness in the neutral priming and security priming conditions, but not in the security priming depletion condition. Overall, security priming helped avoidant-attached caregivers to be more responsive but only when there was no cognitive depletion task involved (Mikulincer et al, 2014). A lack of relationship interdependence and prosocial orientation mediated the low levels of emotional support by avoidant caregivers (Feeney and Collins, 2001).

#### Anxious- attachment style and caregiving (low quality papers)

The papers discussed in this section were all deemed of low quality for a range of reasons already mentioned such as biases in the selection and recruitment of participants with limited sampling frames, which were not often justified in the discussion, and poor reliability and validity of measures such as Likert scales. In view of these quality issues, the following summary of results should be read with caution.

Findings for the anxious-attachment style and effect on caregiving varied. Three of the studies found no significant associations between high attachment anxiety scores and caregiving behaviour (Simpson et al, 1992; Simpson et al, 2002; Mikulincer et al, 2014) The remaining studies found conflicting results ranging from anxious attachment being associated with the provision of supportive care (e.g., Feeney & Collins, 2001, Monin et al, 2012), to the opposite, in which it was associated with unhelpful support (e.g., Mikulincer et al, 2013, Jayamaha et al 2016).

Mikulincer et al (2013) found that the higher a caregiver's anxious attachment, the higher their negative caregiving behaviours, particularly in the cognitive depletion and neutral priming conditions. On the other hand, coders rated anxious caregivers as significantly more emotionally supportive in their notes (Feeney & Collins, 2001). A significant caregiver anxiety by condition interaction found instrumentally supportive behaviours in the high need condition but not the low, and the provision of emotional support in both need conditions. Higher levels of relationship interdependence partly mediated the more responsive emotional support provided by anxious caregivers (Feeney & Collins, 2001).

The literature suggests that caregiving by anxious caregivers was affected by how the caregiver felt about themselves, Rholes et al (1999) reported that the more anxious the caregiver, the less anger they displayed as their partners were more distressed, however more anger was displayed if their partners were not distressed. During the recovery period, highly anxious caregivers showed very low levels of anger if their partner was distressed during the stress period, leading Rholes et al (1999) to theorise that caregivers high in attachment anxiety suppressed their feelings of anger. Jayamaha et al (2016) found that when support providers reported feeling less valued and appreciated, they exhibited greater negative support behaviour when they were high in attachment anxiety felt valued and appreciated, they engaged in lower levels of negative support behaviours, similar to caregivers scoring lower in attachment anxiety (Jayamaha et al, 2016). Monin et al (2012) indicated that caregivers high in anxious attachment were significantly more likely to notice and understand their partner's expressions of anxiety, and more accurately than caregivers lower in anxious
attachment. Lastly, caregivers higher in anxious attachment experienced significantly more personal distress when their partners expressed anxiety (Monin et al, 2012).

#### Discussion

Nine of out ten of the included papers were deemed low in guality; therefore, the findings from these studies cannot be relied upon. The highest quality paper (Collins & Feeney, 2000; moderate quality) found no significant associations between avoidant attachment and poorer caregiving, whereas all the other low-quality papers did. As for attachment anxiety, Collins and Feeney reported that caregivers scoring high on this were poorer caregivers, were significantly less responsive, provided less instrumental support, and showed higher negative caregiving behaviours. The lower quality papers showed mixed results with some agreeing with Collins and Feeney (Feeney & Collins 2001, Monin et al, 2012) and others showing the opposite association between attachment anxiety and caregiving (Feeney & Collins, 2001 Jayamaha et al, 2016, Mikulincer et al, 2013) or no association (Simpson et al, 1992; Simpson et al, 2002; Mikulincer et al, 2014). Lastly, Collins and Feeney found that caregivers high in anxious attachment provided significantly higher levels of support when their partners' needs were clear, but low levels when the needs were not clear (Collins & Feeney, 2000). Overall, results indicated that not all people are easily able to provide responsive caregiving to their partners, and this may be partly based on their attachment styles.

Given that the highest quality paper showed an association between anxious attachment style and less effective caregiving, it would be helpful to consider reasons for this association. Collins and Feeney (2000) comment that there is little understanding of the mechanisms that may explain this association, however, suggest that people with attachment anxiety are concerned about being rejected by others and struggle to prioritise a partners attachment needs over their own, which leads to ineffective caregiving. When partners' needs were clear, anxious caregivers did provide effective caregiving, suggesting that anxious caregivers might possess some of the required skills for caregiving, but are not able to always use them (Collins & Feeney, 2000). Other researchers disagree, instead suggesting that people with anxious attachment styles do not possess the required skills to be effective caregivers, for example, they are less skilled at understanding nonverbal messages (Feeney, Noller & Cauan, 1994, as cited by Collins & Feeney, 2000) and show lower levels of responsive listening skills (Mikulincer & Nachshon, 1991, as cited by Collins & Feeney, 2000).

The findings regarding anxious attachment were mixed for the lower quality papers. One reason for this might be low study quality, but we could also tentatively hypothesise that these studies were assessing different aspects of the same attachment ambivalence that participants felt, i.e., in which participants had the capacity to feel close toward their partners at times but also to mistrust their partners' proximity and commitment (Feeney & Collins, 2001). When anxiously attached carers are in a support giving role, they are not antagonistic towards their partners, thus perhaps anxious caregivers feel better, more useful, and more valued when they can offer support (Rholes et al, 1999; Jayamaha et al, 2017).

As for avoidant attachment, as mentioned above, only the low-quality studies found an association between avoidant attachment and less effective caregiving, whereas the highest quality paper did not find any association. It is prudent to conclude therefore that research to date has not supported any association between avoidant attachment and poorer caregiving, although arguably researchers should aim to conduct higher quality studies in order to answer with confidence whether this association exists. Indeed, there is a theoretical basis for expecting that high quality studies in future might find such an association: Overall and Lemay's (2015) conceptualisation of the effects of avoidant attachment in relationships is that dependence on an avoidant person will make them feel uncomfortable; this person may then respond by attempting to increase the feeling of autonomy and power in the relationship (e.g., not noticing the partner's anxiety, minimising the partner's concerns, and refusing support). This may, in turn, increase the level of dependence on the avoidant partner, and eventually this exacerbation might undermine or threaten the relationship, confirming the avoidantly attached person's belief that people cannot be trusted to remain in relationships (Overall & Lemay, 2015). Research shows that avoidant people can deactivate their attachment system (Fraley, Davis & Shaver, 1998, Fraley & Shaver, 1997 as cited by Feeney & Collins, 2001) and defensively exclude emotional information (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2003, as cited by Monin et al, 2012) thereby continuing to avoid opportunities to learn caregiving skills; it stands to reason that this might affect support provision in intimate relationships, and high quality studies would be required in order to answer decisively whether such an association exists.

Several reasons may explain general inconsistencies in findings for both attachment styles; firstly, the unusual situation of being part of a lab-based study, rather than in the home environments (Collins and Feeney, 2000). Secondly, Bartholomew and Horowitz (1991) theorised that there are 4 attachment prototypes; none of the included studies measured the fearful attachment style, all data were analysed under the anxiety or avoidance dimensions, therefore as noted by Collins and Feeney (2000), qualitative differences between the groups may have been missed. For example, Kunce and Shaver (1994) used a self-report caregiving measure and found that fearful attachment (high avoidance and high anxiety) is associated with overinvolved caregiving (Collins & Feeney, 2000), and closely linked to being torn between interdependence and mistrust (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991). Thus, the inconsistencies could also reflect how insecure attachment styles inherently involve more variable and unpredictable responses. It could be possible that these papers miscategorised some people with fearful attachments as anxiously or avoidantly attached, who then behaved in opposite ways within their group. Some researchers criticise and doubt the validity of attachment categories, for example, Davila et al (1999, as cited by Cobb et al, 2001) comment on how self-reported attachment can vary and change at different points, and studies have shown instability in attachment styles in relationships over time (Feeney, Noller & Callan, 1994). The original attachment research is criticised for being outdated and culturally biased, as all research was conducted with middle-class American families (Quinn & Mageo, 2013). The classifications of attachment have also been criticised for being vague, unreliable and overly simplistic, without the room to manoeuvre between the styles (Quinn & Mageo, 2013). Crittenden (2006) theorises 'the dynamic-maturational model of attachment' (DMM), which includes 12 different attachment styles, where people can

have more fluid movement between the categories. The DMM model holds different assumptions; that adults can have multiple dispositional underlying styles based on personal experiences in infancy, adulthood, and exposure to danger. Studies using this conceptualisation of attachment may produce a different pattern of results, potentially showing how our ability to be effective caregivers changes across contexts, based on our movement between attachment styles.

This systematic review focuses on one part of a very complex dyadic regulation process regarding attachment. Regulation of the partner operates within a dyadic system that involves self -regulation and regulation by the partner (Overall & Lemay, 2015), thus caregiving, and care-seeking are interdependent, which is in line with Bowlby's understanding of attachment and caregiving as a collective dyad (Collins & Feeney, 2000). The study deemed of highest quality showed an individual influence of attachment style and caregiving, in that, generally, caregivers did not change the way they responded based on a partner's attachment style (Collins & Feeney, 2000). However, there was a general correlation between overall support seeking behaviour and caregiving quality; direct expressions of need (e.g. emotional disclosure) were associated with helpful caregiving behaviours (higher responsiveness and emotional support) whereas indirect expressions of need (hinting, sulking) were associated with unhelpful caregiving behaviours (less responsive, negative behaviours; Collins & Feeney, 2000). Expression of need (e.g. care-seeking) is affected by attachment style, for example, those high in avoidant attachment were more likely to use indirect expressions, thus receive ineffective caregiving (Collins & Feeney, 2000). Overall, the caregiver and care seeker do not interact independently, and "neither are solely responsible for the outcome of the interaction" (Collins & Feeney, 2000, p. 1067).

#### Limitations

The overall quality of the papers was low, with only one paper deemed moderate; thus, conclusions cannot be drawn with confidence. The findings from Collins and Feeney (2000) may be interpreted with the most confidence.

There were a variety of measurement issues in the studies which limit the reliability of the results presented in the review. All studies had a selection bias, with most of the participants being university undergraduates in the first 2 years of their relationships. The findings, therefore, cannot be generalized to older participants, in longer-term relationships at different developmental stages. Many of the participants also took part in exchange for university credit, with their partner's attending out of good will, perhaps reflecting a more caring partner in the first place. Some of the studies used unobtrusive video recording, whereas others notified participants of the video recording. Participants may have behaved differently (demand characteristics) towards each other in this environment, with Simpson et al (1992) suggesting that perhaps, particularly for an avoidantly attached person, it is less threatening to provide support in a 'false' environment than a real-life situation. Lastly, to reiterate, findings from this systematic review cannot be stated with confidence due to the low-quality ratings for most of the studies.

The AXIS tool was selected for quality assessment, its strength is that the items ask about reporting quality and study quality (Downes et al, 2016). However, some of the questions were insensitive to this group of studies, for example, the questions in the

results section of the AXIS (items 12-16) did not appropriately capture studies that reported both significant and 'marginally significant' data. Also, many of the studies used high quality validated questionnaires, alongside bespoke Likert-scale questionnaires, thus question 9 regarding the reliability of measures used was not sensitive to dealing with multiple measures. The 2 studies that included a randomised manipulation in the observational design were also assessed with the AXIS, to ensure consistent quality assessing, however, this was not the most sensitive tool for this design thus may not have captured the intricacies in quality for these papers. As mentioned, AXIS does not have a numerical scale for assessing the quality of the study thus some subjective judgement was required, increasing the likelihood of differences based on opinion (Downes et al, 2016). Efforts were made to reduce this bias with the inclusion of a second rater.

Efforts were made to reduce biases where possible in the selection of studies, however, some biases were likely present. As mentioned, dissertations were excluded, increasing the likelihood of a grey-literature bias as, however, as reported by Vickers & Smith (2000), dissertations do not often change the overall outcome of reviews. There was a language bias as only full-text papers in English were included, due to the researcher's language. Backward citation chaining may have increased citation bias as studies that show significant results are more likely to be cited by other authors, likewise with publication bias; however, the results presented here showed both expected and not-expected associations.

There are many debates in the literature regarding how attachment styles should be measured in adulthood; whether self-report or attachment interviews are the most reliable (Bartholomew & Shaver, 1998, as cited by Collins & Feeney, 2000). Davila et al (1999, as cited by Cobb et al, 2001) comment how self-reported attachment can vary and change at different points, and studies have shown instability in attachment styles in relationships over time (Feeney, Noller & Callan, 1994), it is unknown how this may have affected the results reported here. Attachment measures designed to measure parent-child relationships (e.g. AAI) and romantic relationships (AAQ) question different developmental time frames, thus measure different levels of consciousness within internal working models (Simpson et al, 2002). This may explain why the AAI (interview) and AAQ (self-report), for example, are closely related but not statistically correlated (Simpson et al, 2002), and again may have affected rates of attachment styles in the included studies. Lastly, Simpson et al (1999) discuss that the avoidance dimension in attachment measures focuses on how individuals view others, whereas the anxiety dimension focuses on how individuals view themselves, therefore in studies that involve interactions with significant others, avoidance may account for more of the variance.

#### **Clinical and Service Implications**

The research cited in this review focused on young people in new relationships, and no firm conclusions can be drawn given the quality of the cited studies; thus, the implications presented are very tentative and specific to younger adults.

There is an implication for services to remain aware of the role of carers in providing support to service-users accessing a range of NHS services. Perhaps consideration of a partners' attachment style would be useful and how this might influence the care that the service-user may receive in their relationships. Jayamaha et al (2017) cited research indicating that partners reinforcing the value of the relationship helps anxiously attached people feel secure and cope with conflict more effectively (Overall & Simpson, 2015 as cited by Jayamaha et al, 2017). Mikulincer et al (2013, 2014) reported that subliminally enhancing an individual's sense of security (by priming attachment figures) was effective in eliciting better caregiving behaviours for insecure caregivers, however, not when their cognitive resources were experimentally reduced. These caregivers were even less able to provide supportive caregiving when their personal cognitive resources were drained. This has relevance when considering how 'depleted' people feel in society, taking multiple pressures into account, such as work, financial, and child-care. Perhaps the more busy and pressured life becomes, the less able we are at providing responsive and supportive care to our partners, despite the benefits.

Services for adolescents and young adults (e.g. 14-25 years), may consider offering attachment-informed therapy to couples. Emotionally-focused therapy with couples (Johnson, 1996) works on the needs and emotions derived from attachment styles. Therapy aims to educate couples to increase their responsiveness, and to guide partners to change the way they seek and provide support to each other. There is evidence to show that couples who have received this therapy exhibit empathy, trust and the cognitive flexibility seen in people with secure attachments (Johnson, 2002, Johnson et al, 2015).

#### **Future Research**

In terms of quality of reporting, although it makes sense to glean the most from the Collins and Feeney (2000) paper, perhaps the high level of similarities in the avoidant attachment style across the lower quality papers may indicate a little more credence in these findings, given their replicability. These aspects thus may deserve further research with higher quality papers.

Again, tentatively, understanding exactly how anxiously attached people interpret their partner's distress may offer solutions on how to modify their responses to become more effective caregivers (Jayamaha et al, 2017). Future research looking into how security priming could transform patterns of caregiving and care-seeking would also be beneficial, for example making the positive memories and feelings towards a partner more accessible for avoidantly attached people thus potentially improving caregiving (Mikulincer et al, 2014). Also increasing the qualitative understanding of anger experienced by caregivers would be a useful avenue for bettering couple interventions directed at domestic violence, for example whether anger experienced was coupled with contempt and an urge to hurt their partner, or whether the anger was more alike frustration at the self for the discomfort experienced (Monin et al, 2012).

The healthcare system in the UK can be set up to pathologize attachment and dependence needs and anxieties, which is a significant issue in mental health services (Johnson et al, 2015). There is a wider societal message of this review; we each have a responsibility to our partners in our relationships, to provide supportive care, to lower

distress, and boost relationship satisfaction. However, at present due to the quality of the studies, conclusions are limited. For the findings to become more generalisable, clinical services and researchers should work together to produce high quality research which looks at a broader range of people and longer-term relationships at different developmental stages, particularly during transitions that place stress on the relationship (e.g. becoming parents), as attachment needs are likely to be amplified (Cobb et al, 2001). These are the types of relationships seen in NHS services when working with carers, and thus will likely be more useful.

## **Conflict of Interest Declaration**

The author reports no conflict of interest. This research was conducted as part of the researcher's Doctorate in Clinical Psychology at Cardiff University. The funding for this course is provided by NHS Wales.

## Acknowledgements

The author would like to thank Alice Reid-Williams for assistance in inter-rater reliability coding.

#### References

Ainsworth, M. D. S. (1989). Attachments beyond infancy. *American Psychologist*, *44*(4), 709-716. doi:<u>10.1037//0003-066X.44.4.709</u>

Ainsworth, M., Blehar, M., Waters, E., & Wall, S. (1978). *Patterns of attachment*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum and Associates

Ainsworth, M. D. S., Blehar, M. C., Waters, E., & Wall, S. N. (2015). *Patterns of attachment: A psychological study of the strange situation*. New York: Psychology Press

Aron, A., Aron, E. N., & Smollan, D. (1992). Inclusion of other in the self scale and the structure of interpersonal closeness. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *63*(4), 596- 612. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.63.4.596</u>

Barbee, A. P., & Cunningham, M. R. (1995). An experimental approach to social support communications: Interactive coping in close relationships. *Annals of the International Communication Association*, *18*(1), 381-413. doi:10.1080/23808985.1995.11678921

Bartholomew, K., & Horowitz, L. M. (1991) Attachment styles among young adults: A test of a four-category model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 61,* 226-244. doi:<u>10.1037//0022-3514.61.2.226</u>

Berscheid, E., Snyder, M., & Omoto, A. M. (1989). The Relationship Closeness Inventory: Assessing the Closeness of Interpersonal Relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*(5), 792-807. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.57.5.79

Boland, A., Cherry, G., & Dickson, R. (Eds.). (2017). *Doing a systematic review: A student's guide*. Sage.

Bowlby, J. (1982). *Attachment and loss, Vol. 1: Attachment*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York: Basic Books.

Bradbury, T. N., & Pasch, L. A. (1992). *The social support interaction coding system.* Unpublished coding manual, University of California, Los Angeles.

Brennan, K. A., Clark, C. L., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Self-report measurement of adult attachment: An integrative overview. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 46-76). New York: Guilford Press.

Cassidy, J. (1999). The nature of the child's ties. In J. Cassidy & P.R Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications.* New York: Rough Guides.

Clark, M. S., Oullette, R., Powell, M. C., & Milberg, S. (1987). Recipient's mood, relationship type, and helping. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 53*(1), 94-103. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.53.1.94</u>

Cobb, R. J., Davila, J., & Bradbury, T. N. (2001). Attachment security and marital satisfaction: The role of positive perceptions and social support. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *27*(9), 1131-1143. <u>doi:10.1177/0146167201279006</u>

Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2000). A safe haven: An attachment theory perspective on support seeking and caregiving in intimate relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 78*(6), 1053. <u>doi:10.1037//0022-3514.78.6.1053</u>

Collins, N. L., & Read, S. J. (1990). Adult attachment, working models, and relationship quality in dating couples. *Journal of personality and social psychology, 58*(4), 644. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.58.4.644

Crittenden, P. M. (2006). A dynamic-maturational model of attachment. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Family Therapy*, *27*(2), 105-115. doi:<u>10.1002/j.1467-</u> <u>8438.2006.tb00704</u>

Crowell, J. A., Pan, H. S., Gao, Y., Treboux, D., O'Connor, E., & Waters, E. (1998). *The secure base scoring system for adults.* Unpublished manuscript, State University New York, Stony Brook.

Davis, M. H. (1983). Measuring individual differences in empathy: Evidence for a multidimensional approach. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 44*(1), 113-126. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.44.1.113</u>

Downes, M. J., Brennan, M. L., Williams, H. C., & Dean, R. S. (2016). Development of a critical appraisal tool to assess the quality of cross-sectional studies (AXIS). *BMJ open*, *6*(12), e011458. <u>doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011458</u>

Feeney, B. C., & Collins, N. L. (2001). Predictors of caregiving in adult intimate relationships: An attachment theoretical perspective. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *80*(6), 972. <u>doi:10/1037/0022-3514.80.6.972</u>

Feeney, J.A., Noller, P., Callan, V. J. (1994). Attachment style, communication and satisfaction in the early years of marriage. In K. Bartholomew, & D. Perlman (Eds.), *Advances in personal relationships*. London: J. Kingsley.

Feeney, B. C., & Thrush, R. L. (2010). Relationship influences on exploration in adulthood: The characteristics and function of a secure base. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *98*(1), 57-76. <u>doi:10.1037/a0016961</u>

Feeney, B. C., Van Vleet, M., Jakubiak, B. K. (2015). An attachment-theoretical perspective on optimal dependence in close relationships. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp 195-233). New York: The Guilford Press

Fletcher, G. J., Simpson, J. A., & Thomas, G. (2000). The measurement of perceived relationship quality components: A confirmatory factor analytic approach. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, *26*(3), 340-354. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.79.6.933

Fraley, R. C., & Davis, K. E. (1997). Attachment formation and transfer in young adults' close friendships and romantic relationships. *Personal relationships*, *4*(2), 131-144. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.1997.tb00135

Fraley, R. C., Davis, K. E., & Shaver, P. R. (1998). Dismissing-avoidance and the defensive organization of emotion, cognition, and behavior. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 249-279). New York: Guilford Press.

Fraley, C. F., Roisman, G. I. (2015). Early attachment experiences and romantic functioning. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp 9-38). New York: The Guilford Press.

Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (1997). Adult attachment and the suppression of unwanted thoughts. *Journal of personality and social psychology, 73*(5), 1080 -1091. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.73.5.1080

Goldberg, L. R. (1990). An alternative "description of personality": The Big-Five factor structure. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 59*(6), 1216-1229. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.59.6.1216

Hazan, C., & Shaver, P. (1987). Romantic love conceptualized as an attachment process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 52*(3), 511-524. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.52.3.511

Hendrick, S. S. (1988). A generic measure of relationship satisfaction. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *50*(1), 93-98. doi:10.2307/352430

Jayamaha, S. D., Girme, Y. U., & Overall, N. C. (2017). When attachment anxiety impedes support provision: The role of feeling unvalued and unappreciated. *Journal of Family Psychology*, *31*(2), 181-191. <u>doi:10.1037/fam0000222</u>

Johnson, S. M. (1996). The practice of emotionally focused marital therapy: Creating connection. New York: Brunner/Mazel

Johnson, S. M. (2002). Emotionally focused couple therapy with trauma survivors: Strengthening attachment bonds. New York: Guilford

Johnson, S.M., Lafontaine, M-F., & T. L, Dalgleish. (2015). Attachment: A guide to a new era of couple interventions. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships* (pp. 393-422). New York: The Guilford Press.

Kunce, L. J., & Shaver, P. R. (1994). An attachment-theoretical approach to caregiving in romantic relationships. In K. Bartholomew, & D. Perlman (Eds.), *Advances in personal relationships* (pp 205-237). London: Jessica Kingsley. Locke, H. J., & Wallace, K. M. (1959). Short marital-adjustment and prediction tests: Their reliability and validity. *Marriage & Family Living, 21,* 251-255. doi:10.2307/348022

Main, M., & Goldwyn, R. (1994). *Adult attachment scoring and classification systems* (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). Unpublished manuscript, University of California, Berkeley.

McGraw, K. O., & Wong, S. P. (1996). Forming inferences about some intraclass correlation coefficients. *Psychological methods, 1*(1), 30-46. <u>doi:10.82-989X/96/S3.00</u>

Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2009). An attachment and behavioral systems perspective on social support. *Journal of social and personal relationships*, *26*(1), 7-19. doi: 10.1177/0265407509105518

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Bar-On, N., & Sahdra, B. K. (2014). Security enhancement, self-esteem threat, and mental depletion affect provision of a safe haven and secure base to a romantic partner. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *31*(5), 630-650. doi:10.1177/0265407514525887

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Gillath, O., & Nitzberg, R. A. (2005). Attachment, caregiving, and altruism: boosting attachment security increases compassion and

helping. Journal of personality and social psychology, 89(5), 817. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.89.5.817

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Sahdra, B. K., & Bar-On, N. (2013). Can securityenhancing interventions overcome psychological barriers to responsiveness in couple relationships? *Attachment* & *Human Development*, *15*(3), 246-260. <u>doi:10.1080/14616734.2013.782653</u>

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *Annals of internal medicine*, *151*(4), 264-269. <u>doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097</u>.

Monin, J. K., Feeney, B. C., & Schulz, R. (2012). Attachment orientation and reactions to anxiety expression in close relationships. *Personal Relationships*, *19*(3), 535-550. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2011.01376

Overall, N. C., and Lemay, E. P. (2015). Attachment and Dyadic Regulation Processes. In J. A. Simpson & W. S. Rholes (Eds.), *Attachment theory and close relationships (pp 145 - 169).* New York: The Guilford Press.

Pierce, G. R., Sarason, I. G., & Sarason, B. R. (1991). General and relationship-based perceptions of social support: Are two constructs better than one? *Journal of* 

personality and social psychology, 61(6), 1028- 1039. doi:10.1037//0022-3514.61.6.1028

PROSPERO: Laura Coote. A systematic review of the effects of attachment style on caregiving in adult romantic relationships. PROSPERO 2019 CRD42019127223 Available from: <u>http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42019127223</u>

Quinn, N., & Mageo, J. (Eds.). (2013). *Attachment reconsidered: Cultural perspectives* on a Western theory. New York: Springer

Rempel, J. K., Holmes, J. G., & Zanna, M. P. (1985). Trust in close relationships. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *49*(1), 95-112. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.49.1.95</u>

Rholes, W. S., Simpson, J. A., & Oriña, M. M. (1999). Attachment and anger in an anxiety-provoking situation. *Journal of personality and Social Psychology*, *76*(6), 940 -957. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.76.6.940

Rubin, Z. (1970). Measurement of romantic love. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 16*(2), 265-273. <u>doi:10.1037/h0029841</u>

58

.

Shea, B. J., Reeves, B. C., Wells, G., Thuku, M., Hamel, C., Moran, J., ... & Henry, D. A. (2017). AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. *BMJ*, *358*, j4008. doi:10.1136/bmj.j4008

Simpson, J. A., & Rholes, W. S. E. (1998). *Attachment theory and close relationships.* New York: Guilford Press.

Simpson, J. A., Rholes, W. S., Oriña, M. M., & Grich, J. (2002). Working models of attachment, support giving, and support seeking in a stressful situation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*(5), 598-608. <u>doi:10.1177/0146167202288004</u>

Simpson, J. A., Rholes, W. S., & Nelligan, J. S. (1992). Support Seeking and Support Giving Within Couples in an Anxiety-Provoking Situation: The Role of Attachment Styles. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 62(3), 434-446. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.62.3.434</u>

Van Lange, P. A. M., Rusbult, C. E., Drigotas, S. M., Arriaga, X. B., Witcher, B. S., & Cox, C. L. (1997). Willingness to sacrifice in close relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *7*2(6), 1373-1395. <u>doi:10.1037/0022-3514.72.6.1373</u>

Vickers, A. J., & Smith, C. (2000). Incorporating data from dissertations in systematic reviews. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, *16*(2), 711-713. doi:<u>10.1017/S0266462300101278</u>

Paper 2 has been prepared in accordance with the author guidelines for submission to the journal of mental health and prevention (Appendix 8).

## Paper 2: Empirical paper

# Does attachment training 'upskill' and increase compassion satisfaction and reduce compassion fatigue in frontline staff?

Word count (excluding figures/tables): 8,000

#### Abstract

Objective: Historically, public services have not always met the needs of children and young people (CYP) with attachment and developmental/complex trauma. Attachment theory and research has been shown to foster compassion, and attachment- informed training has been shown as one way to upskill staff. The objective of this paper was to evaluate the effect of attachment-informed training on compassion satisfaction and fatigue, and knowledge, confidence, and worries (KCW) for frontline staff working within health, social and education services with CYP with attachment and developmental/complex trauma.

Methods: A children and adolescent mental health service (CAMHS) service in Wales developed and provided attachment-informed training to health, social and education service staff. Training included two days of theoretical training, an opportunity to put the knowledge into practice, and six skills development sessions (SDS) at 6-week intervals.

Results: Analysis included twenty-one teams (N=369); 15 of which were social services teams, 5 were education teams, and there was 1 healthcare team. There were no significant differences found in compassion satisfaction and fatigue before and after training. There were significant increases in knowledge and confidence, and significant decreases in worries, before and after training. The decrease in worries held for follow up. Staff clustered into three profiles based on knowledge, confidence and worries scores, the more knowledgeable and confident a staff member was, the lower their worries. There were no significant differences found between clusters on measures of compassion satisfaction and fatigue. Confirmatory factor analysis of the KCW measure did not show a good fit to the model, and the principal component

analysis suggested the questions loaded onto two components, with knowledge and confidence potentially measuring the same factor. Examination of demographic factors and co-variables indicates an adequate degree of construct validity.

Conclusion: Tentatively, attachment-informed training may be beneficial for improving knowledge, confidence and worries for frontline staff working with CYP with attachment and developmental/complex trauma, however, future research improving the quality of the KCW measure is required.

#### Introduction

#### 1.1 Attachment

Attachment theory provides an understanding of psychological functioning in the context of early bonds in close relationships (Bowlby, 1982). Experiences of relationships with early caregivers shape our 'internal working models' or our mental representations about the self in relation to others, which in turn informs expectations in future relationships (Bowlby, 1982). Flexible and available caregivers, who are responsive and sensitive to distress, produce secure attachment patterns in infants (Bowlby, 1982). There are many psychological advantages for secure attachment, such as ability to self-regulate and manage distress, and positive self-esteem (Bowlby, 1982). An unresponsive caregiver is more likely to produce insecure (avoidant or anxious) attachment styles in infants, which are characterised by either heightened or minimised emotional expression. A disorganised attachment style, characterised by a combination of avoidant or anxious patterns, is linked to early childhood abuse or neglect (Main & Soloman, 1990).

Attachment styles can affect a person's help seeking behaviour in the future, for example, adults with a secure attachment style engage in support-seeking behaviour in times of stress (Fraley & Shaver, 2000). Avoidant and anxious insecure attachment styles are common in people experiencing mental health difficulties (73.6% and 90.5% respectively) (MacBeth, Gumley, Schwannauer, & Fisher, 2011). This has implications for how people seek help in mental health services, particularly with regards to relationships with staff, as attachment styles can also influence therapeutic process and outcomes (Mikulincer, Shaver, & Berant, 2013). People who appear to struggle to

engage with services may have avoidant attachment patterns or people who appear demanding of services may have an anxious attachment style (Barber et al, 2006). A national advisory group on mental health, safety, and well-being for the Department of Health UK (Seager et al, 2007) has promoted the use of attachment theory to inform policy and services, thus in some areas, attachment theory has been used to guide the design and delivery of services (Bucci, Roberts, Danquah & Berry, 2014).

#### 1.2 Attachment and developmental/complex trauma

Attachment theory suggests that all children need physical and emotional safety to develop secure attachments, recover from traumatic experiences, develop and thrive (Lieberman & Van Horn, 2011). Research looking at the impact of adverse childhood experiences (ACE's) in Wales highlighted the multiple risk factors and areas of need for CYP with attachment and developmental/complex trauma (Public Health Wales, 2015. The National Assembly for Wales (2014) discovered a 100% increase in CAMHS referrals over 4 years, suggesting that primary care was not meeting these CYP's difficulties. A health board in Wales commissioned a gaps analysis (Waters & Todd-Jones 2016) of services working with CYP and broadly found that CYP with attachment and developmental/complex trauma, presenting with self-harm and behaviour that challenges, were often not accepted into specialist CAMHS, demonstrating that secondary care were also not meeting their needs. (Waters & Todd-Jones 2016). Referrals were rejected due to a variety of issues; a lack of early intervention, an under-resourced service, and professionals requiring extra support and upskilling to hold cases beyond their capacity and capability (Waters & Todd-Jones 2016). There were repeated requests for training, upskilling, and access to

psychological consultation, supervision and intervention (Waters & Todd-Jones 2016). A complex case review identified that CYP with attachment and developmental/complex trauma often present across many public services (such as health, youth justice, local authority), suggesting that agencies need to collaborate closely to improve services (Kirkaldie & McDonnell, 2016).

The importance of trauma history and attachment with regard to emotional wellbeing has not always been fully understood in service delivery, as suggested in a CAMHS inquiry (National Assembly of Wales, 2014); and 3 reports by Break Through Britain/Centre for Social Justice (Couldn't Care Less, 2008, Enough is Enough, 2014 & Completing the Revolution, 2011, as cited by Kirkaldie & McDonnell, 2016). Awareness of the impact of early and developmental trauma in CYP is growing for frontline clinicians and commissioners (Kirkaldie & McDonnell, 2016). Research suggests that the earlier the intervention, the better the outcome for emotional wellbeing, mental health and behavioural difficulties in CYP (Feinstein, 2015). The 'Together for Children and Young people' (Welsh Government, 2015) initiative in Wales emphasised the need for multiple agencies to work together at various levels to meet the needs of CYP with trauma histories. The National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) guidelines (2015) stipulate that alongside parents and carers, the professionals involved with CYP should be primary targets of interventions, particularly teachers, healthcare and social care staff.

A CAMHS service in Wales recently developed a training package for attachmentinformed working for frontline staff in health, social, and education services. The

training included 5 themes such as the impact of trauma, the implication of attachment difficulties and awareness of own attachment. From previous research, attachmentinformed training is 'effective' when it meets the following components; improved knowledge, skills and confidence of professionals to provide attachment informed intervention to CYP, improved knowledge, skills and confidence of parents and carers helping their CYP, and lastly that CYP feel listened to, safe, and have positive interactions with parents, carers or key workers (Heaney, 2017). For any effective professional training, Zaslow, Tout, Halle, Vick, & Lavelle (2010) recommend a clear focus on a specific skill set, an opportunity to practice the skills, and follow up consultation and supervision to consolidate and enhance the skills. Post training, the service also provided skills development consultation sessions (SDS). The hope for the SDS were to empower and provide support for the professionals within a containing environment, and to consolidate skills and decrease stress (Jackson et al, 2017, see appendix 9). Previous research on trauma-informed training and skills development sessions showed staff reported increases in knowledge and confidence with asking about trauma, were able to make positive changes to their practice and provide appropriate care to service users with trauma histories (Cavanagh, Read, New, 2004). In Waters (2015) research using a bespoke knowledge, confidence and worries questionnaire, following training, staff reported an increase in knowledge about trauma, and an increase in confidence providing assessment and treatment, which held for follow up after 6 months.

#### 1.3 Compassionate caregiving

Alongside an attachment system, we also have a caregiving system, which can be affected by our attachment style (Bowlby, 1982, as cited by Mikulincer & Shaver, 2017). Like the attachment system, if a person has developed under caring and loving circumstances, their caregiving system will be primed with compassionate and empathic resources, whereas if a person has grown up in an inconsistent or unloving environment, their caregiving system will not be primed in the same way (Mikuliner & Shaver, 2017). Research has suggested that secure attachment patterns are associated with greater compassion and caregiving, whereas insecure attachment styles can hinder compassionate caregiving (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2005). Avoidantattachment was associated with lower willingness and compassion to help a suffering person, and anxious-attachment was associated with increased levels of personal distress but not compassionate caregiving behaviour. Priming attachment security (with the use of attachment figures names), increased compassion and willingness to help a distressed person (Mikulincer, Shaver, Gillath, & Nitzberg, 2005). This may be due to the motivating reasons behind offering support; secure individuals (i.e. score low on avoidance and anxiety dimensions of attachment measures) provided help to others for an altruistic reason (Gillath et al, 2005). Those insecurely attached either provided less help and were less motivated (avoidantly attached) or provided help for reasons pertaining to self-protection or social acceptance (anxiously attached) (Gillath et al, 2005). An insecurely attached caregiver may be preoccupied with their feelings of vulnerability and need for care; thus, they are not as cognitively resourced or able to attend to other people. If a person experiences a sense of security and safety, then they can see others as also requiring compassion and care (Bowlby, 1982, as cited by Mikulincer & Shaver, 2017).

Providing care to people with complex needs can be fatiguing (Rossi et al, 2012), and can lead to emotional exhaustion and burnout (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2017). Professionals working with people who have experienced trauma or suffering can experience compassion satisfaction (CS) and compassion fatigue (CF). CS relates to the perceived pleasure gained from this type of work, for example 'it's gratifying to help others', or 'it's good for society'. CF has two parts, this type of work can lead to burnout (exhaustion, frustration, anger and depression), and secondary trauma (stress driven by fear and work-related secondary exposure to stressful events) (Stamm, 2010). Burnout is associated with hopelessness, and difficulties with working effectively, often due to a high workload with a lack of support, or the perception that increased effort has limited effect (Craig & Sprang, 2010). Secondary traumatic stress (STS) is associated with physical and emotional difficulties such as fear, difficulty sleeping, and intrusive images (Craig & Sprang, 2010). Research shows that CF is prevalent across a variety of frontline settings, including social services, mental health, and children's services (K. B. Adams, Matto, & Harrington, 2001; Anderson, 2000; Cunningham, 2003; Gardell & Harris, 2003; Lloyd, King, & Chenoweth, 2002; Maslach, 2003; Schauben & Frazier, 1995; Sexton, 1999, as cited by Newell & MacNeil, 2011). Using the professional quality of life scale (ProQOL), Rossi et al (2012) found high levels of CF in staff working in community-based mental health services, which increased each working year, leading to higher sickness rates, increased turnover, low morale and less satisfaction reported by service users (Ray, Wong, White & Heaslip, 2013).

As Mikulincer and Shaver (2017, p.197) state "attachment theory and research provide good leads for fostering effective compassion in therapists, therapy clients, parents and human beings more generally". This paper will be focusing on changes in outcomes for professionals (from health, social and education services) following attachment training and 6 SDS. Outcomes include compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, knowledge, confidence and worries about working within an attachment/ trauma informed way. The attachment training aims to facilitate an understanding of people in the context of their disrupted attachment relationships and trauma histories, rather than seeing only challenging behaviour (Jackson, Heaney, Walters & Wilcox, 2017). Knowledge of attachment theory may increase compassion satisfaction as the focus is not on the CYP's problematic behaviours but on context and history. The training may encourage reflection on one's own attachment history, which may also increase compassion, particularly if it activates a person's memory of their own caring and loving experience. If frontline staff have high levels of CS, knowledge and confidence and low levels of CF and worries, they are more likely to not only be in work but also provide a supportive, responsive and warm service. The attachment training aims to increase knowledge and confidence and decrease worries about working in an attachment informed way, and the aims for the SDS were to further improve frontline staffs understanding (knowledge) and confidence with attachmentinformed working and formulations of CYP. The project also addresses the reliability and validity of the bespoke knowledge, confidence and worries (KCW) questionnaire by investigation through factor analyses.

## Hypotheses

### **Principle questions**

- Does attachment training increase compassion satisfaction and decrease compassion fatigue?
- Does attachment training increase knowledge and confidence and decrease worries about working within an attachment/ trauma informed way?

Hypothesis 1: There will be a significant increase in CS and a significant decrease in CF pre to post training.

Hypothesis 2: Increases in CS and decreases in CF will be associated with an increase in knowledge and confidence and a decrease in worries.

Hypothesis 3: There will be significant increases in knowledge and confidence and a significant decrease in worries pre to post training.

#### Method

The study design and data collection had started prior to the trainee's involvement with the research. The trainee independently developed hypotheses regarding the study's measures and identified appropriate analyses by herself, checking in with the research supervisor that her ideas were sound. The trainee analysed the data, interpreted the results, and discussed her findings by herself, using research supervision as appropriate. Regarding the confirmatory factor analysis and principle component analysis, this was completed in parallel with another trainee; the analysis was undertaken in isolation at first and then verified by discussion with the fellow trainee.

#### **Participants**

Participants included professionals from education, social care or health care teams. All participants attended attachment training and up to 6 SDS provided by the Welsh CAMHS service.

**Recruitment.** The Welsh CAMHS service proposed the attachment training to senior management teams in social care, education and health. For social and health care teams, managers were responsible for prioritising teams to receive training, based on need. Education teams were recruited through the local authority, South East Wales Education consortium (SEWC). Senior managers of SEWC advised the service which pupil referral units had the highest prevalence of attachment trauma and the service prioritised these teams training.
#### Measures

The Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL). The ProQOL (appendix 10) is a 30-item self-report measure developed by Stamm (2010). It contains three subscales, which cover the three subfactors of the ProQOL; compassion satisfaction (CS), burnout (BO), secondary traumatic stress (STS). Each subscale consists of 10 questions, with each item rated on a 5-point Likert scale. The three subscale scores are summed separately for analysis. A high score on each indicates high levels of compassion satisfaction, and compassion fatigue (BO and STS). The Cronbach's (1951) alpha values were .88 for BO, .75 for CS, and .81 for STS.

Knowledge, confidence and worries questionnaire (KCW). The service adapted a questionnaire from a previous bespoke 21 item questionnaire (Waters, 2015). It measured three subscales; 'knowledge', 'confidence' and 'worries'. There were 10 knowledge questions (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 14,19, 20), 5 confidence questions (8, 13, 15, 17) and 6 worries questions (9,10,11,12,16,18) (appendix 11). Five-point Likert scales were used to rate items. Factor analyses and construct validity of this questionnaire are included in the results section.

Attachment training package. Each team attended 2 training days, which involved being taken through the training package. The training package was designed to bridge gaps between services, with the involvement of the public. The Welsh CAMHS service commissioned "Voices from Care", who completed focus groups with young care-leavers and interviewed adoptive parents and foster carers about their experiences of education, health and social services. The service also consulted with the local family and therapies partnership board. The training package covers the following themes;

Theme 1: What is attachment?

- The key components necessary to underpin a secure attachment relationship.

Theme 2: The impact of developmental trauma and disrupted attachment

- How experiences affect brain development and behaviour

Theme 3: The implication of attachment difficulties

- How attachment and developmental trauma impact outcomes for children and young people

Theme 4: Attachment and promoting change

- Using attachment theory to help make positive changes

Theme 5: The importance of looking after yourself

- Working with trauma, distress and behaviours that challenge have an impact on frontline workers.

**Skills development sessions (SDS).** Each team attended 6 SDS, with approximately 6 weeks between each session. In brief, each SDS involved activities designed to help attendees consolidate their knowledge. Staff had the opportunity to discuss a case, and roleplay one of the individuals involved in the case under discussion (such as that of a carer, social worker, or family member). Facilitators led a discussion to increase attendees' understanding of the case under discussion and joint problem-solving from an attachment perspective and encouraged attendees to make personal reflections

regarding the case, their own feelings and their attachment style. During this case discussion, staff teams were invited to contribute ideas about what the child, family member and worker needs, and again were encouraged to draw on their knowledge of attachment theory when doing so. See appendix 12 for the full SDS session outline.

#### Procedure

The Welsh CAMHS service organised the location and timing of training. Training took place over two days. The first day covered attachment theory, the effect of trauma and disrupted attachment and the implications of attachment difficulties. The second day included attachment and promoting change and attachment intervention training. Six SDS's skills followed at 6-week intervals.

Measures were included as part of a larger pack of outcome measures and a consent form (appendix 13). There were 3 time points for the collection of the KCW questionnaire; pre-training, post-training and on the 5th consultation session. The ProQOL was collected at 2 time points; pre training and on the 5<sup>th</sup> consultation session. Data from each time point was added to the database by an assistant psychologist within the service.

## Ethics

The health boards research and development department (appendix 14) and the School of Psychology ethics committee (appendix 15) approved the study.

#### Results

# **Descriptives**

Twenty-one teams (n=369) were included in the analysis; 15 of which were social services teams, 5 were education teams, and there was 1 healthcare team. Teams in social services included families first, flying start, child protection, 14 + and standard social care, disability children teams, family support protection, residential children's home, and fostering teams. The education teams were pupil referral units. The healthcare team was a tier 3 CAMHS team.

# Power

Previous research using the ProQOL has typically found medium effect sizes. Using the G\*Power software (Faul, Erdfelder, Lang & Buchner, 2007) a post hoc power calculation indicated that with the sample size (n=116), the study had over 80% (as recommended by Cohen, 1988) to detect a medium effect size (0.5). When conducting a principal component analysis (PCA), Laerd (2015) proposed a ratio of 5 to 10 participants per item; therefore, 105-210 participant is sufficient for a 21-item measure.

## **Statistical Analysis**

Analyses were completed using SPSS version 25.0, and the AMOS version 25.0 addon for SPSS (for confirmatory factor analysis). For participants with over 80% of the data for each questionnaire, missing values were replaced by the nearby mean. Participants with over 20% data missing on a single questionnaire were excluded from the analysis of that questionnaire.

# **Determining normality**

Normality tests are used in statistics to determine if a dataset has a normal distribution. A dataset with a normal distribution will be shaped like a bell curve, high in the middle (variables are likely to fall around the mean or median) and sloping down on the left and the right (Field, 2018; Laerd, 2018).

As described by Laerd (2018) assessing normality of data is essential as normal data is one of the underlying assumptions of parametric statistics. The two commonly used methods of assessing normality are graphically and numerically, both of which have advantages and disadvantages (Laerd). Using numerical statistical tests provide an objective judgement of normality: however, these tests are affected by sample size in that they are under-sensitive to low numbers and over-sensitive to high sample sizes. As a result, Field (2018) recommends subjective judgements using visual inspection on plots or graphs. For example, for the t-tests presented in this paper, the Shapiro-Wilk test was used as a numerical test for normality as this test is appropriate for sample sizes ranging from 50-2000; the test indicates whether a random sample comes from a normal distribution (Laerd). If the significance (p) value is greater than 0.05, the data are deemed to be normally distributed, whereas the data are deemed to deviate significantly from a normal distribution if the p value is below 0.05 (Laerd). A Q-Q plot was also used as a graphical measure of determining normality in the current study, which is a graph of quantiles of the sample data plotted against the quantiles of a theoretical normal distribution. Normality is indicated by data points that are arranged diagonally, whereas data that are not deemed normally distributed do not fall along a straight line (Field). For the ANOVAs presented in this paper, the

assumption of sphericity was assessed using the Mauchly's Test of Sphericity. Sphericity is the equality of variance of the differences between each pair of values, and if this assumption is violated it means that the variances of the differences between values is not equal (Laerd). It is important to check sphericity, as if it is violated this increases the chance of a type 1 error, which ANOVAs are particularly susceptible to (Laerd).

The analyses of the current study are presented in three sections: first, there are the factor analyses and construct validity assessment of the KCWQ; second, within-group analysis of pre and post training measures to assess whether the training improves knowledge, confidence, worries, compassion satisfaction, burnout and secondary traumatic stress; finally, a cluster analysis is presented to investigate profiles of staff.

#### **Factor Analyses**

# **Confirmatory Factor Analysis (CFA).**

The following CFA and principle component analysis (PCA) of the KCW questionnaire was undertaken in parallel with another trainee.

A confirmatory factor analysis was conducted on the 21-item questionnaire designed to measure knowledge, confidence and worries (see appendix 11) (n=286). There were three latent variables; knowledge, confidence and worries. Each latent variable was measured with differing numbers of observed variables (10 items for knowledge, 5 for confidence, 6 for worries). Observed variables were responses from 5-point Likert scales.

Appendix 16 details the model for the unstandardized estimates (covariances); the numbers "1" in the diagram indicate that the regression coefficient has been fixed to 1. Coefficients are fixed to minimize the number of parameters estimated. Appendix 17 details the model for standardized estimates (correlations). Table 1 refers to the indicators of fit of the model to the data, table 2 refers to the unstandardized and standardized loadings of each item onto the latent variables.

Table 1: Goodness-of-Fit Indicator of a model for knowledge, confidence and worries						
Model	χ2	df	р	TLI	CFI	RMSEA
Three Factor	666.3	186	<0.001	.730	.760	.095

NB: n=286

Item			Confidence		Worries	
	Unstandardized	Standard-	Unstandardized	Standard-	Unstandardized	Standard-
Qu1 Qu3 Qu4 Qu5 Qu6 Qu7 Qu14 Qu19	1.00 (-) 1.07 (.12) 1.09 (.12) 0.95 (.12) 0.86 (.10) 0.85 (.11) 1.15 (.12) 1.17 (.16) 0.19 (.11)	ized 0.63 0.67 0.67 0.56 0.61 0.55 0.66 0.67 0.11		ized	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	ized
Qu20 Qu8 Qu13 Qu15 Qu17 Qu21	0.43 (.10)	0.27	1.00 (-) 0.77 0.87 (.09) 0.24 (.09) 0.78 (.08)	<b>.70</b> .56 .64 .17 .64		
Qu9 Qu10 Qu11 Qu12 Qu16 Qu18					1.00 (-) 1.15 (.11) 0.82 (.10) 1.11 (0.11) 0.51 (.10) 0.29(.08)	0.67 <b>0.81</b> 0.59 <b>0.72</b> 0.33 0.24

Table 2: Unstandardized and standardized loadings for 3 factor confirmatory model of knowledge, confidence and worries

NB: Unstandardized Loadings (standard errors) and standardized loadings. Dashes (--) indicate the standard error was not estimated.

The CFA revealed that the specified model was not a good fit for the patterns observed in the data as shown by a significant chi-square statistic;  $\chi^2(186) = 666.3$ , p < 0.001, a TLI figure of under 0.9, a CFI figure of under 0.95 and an RMSEA figure above 0.05. There were only 3 items (questions 8,10, and 12) with high factor loadings (above 0.7).

As seen in appendix 17, knowledge and confidence were shown as highly correlated constructs (0.96).

## Face Validity.

A small group of trainee clinical psychologists (n=10) filled in a questionnaire designed to test the KCW questionnaire for face validity (appendix 18).

Figure 1 shows each question, and whether the group rated it as seeming to measure knowledge, confidence or worries.



The group rated the items designed to measure knowledge and confidence (questions 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 13, 14, 15, 17, 19, 20, 21) as either knowledge or confidence (mirroring the high correlation found in the CFA). Items designed to measure worry (questions 9, 10, 11, 12, 16, 18) were more consistent with most people rating them as 'worry' items. The group rated some of the questions (5,10, 11, 12, 14, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20) as measuring something other than knowledge, confidence or worries, such as self-awareness, reflection, and support.

## Principal Component Analysis (PCA).

Following poor goodness-to-fit results on the above CFA, and mixed face validity results, a PCA was conducted on the same measure. The suitability of PCA was assessed prior to analysis. Inspection of the correlation matrix showed that 17 of the 21 variables had at least one correlation coefficient greater than 0.3. The overall Kaiser-Mayer-Olkin (KMO) measure was 0.84 with individual KMO measures all greater than 0.5, classifications of marvellous to mediocre, according to Kaiser (1974). Bartlett's Test of Sphericity was statistically significant (p <.0005), indicating that the data was likely factorizable (Laerd, 2015).

The PCA revealed 5 components that had eigenvalues greater than one and which explained 28.1%, 12.1%, 6.7%, 6.4% and 5.7% of the total variance, respectively. Visual inspection of the scree plot indicated that 2 components should be retained (Cattell, 1966). The eigenvalues of 3 of the factors in the 5-component solution were also very close to 1. A 2- component solution met the interpretability criteria. The two-component solution explained 40.1% of the total variance. Varimax orthogonal rotation was employed to aid interpretability. The rotated solution exhibited 'simple structure' (Thurstone, 1947).

Appendix 19 shows the scree plot used to aid interpretation of 2 components. Table 3 presents the component loadings and communalities of the rotated solution.

Rotated Component Coefficients					
Items	Component 1	Component 2	Communalities		
Qu 3	.714	.035	.511		
Qu 2	.707	.067	.504		
Qu 5	.693	113	.493		
Qu 8	.688	.237	.530		
Qu 1	.669	.024	.449		
Qu 14	.665	.211	.486		
Qu 7	.651	.266	.495		
Qu 4	.645	100	.426		
Qu 15	.645	.217	.463		
Qu 6	.594	.034	.354		
Qu 21	.584	.352	.465		
Qu 13	.498	.355	.374		
Qu 20	.316	014	.100		
Qu 12	.100	.768	.599		
Qu 10	.223	.730	.583		
Qu 11	.016	.699	.489		
Qu 9	.160	.640	.436		
Qu 18	014	.562	.316		
Qu 17	.038	.415	.174		
Qu 16	.061	.314	.102		
Qu 19	.188	217	.465		

Table 3: Component loadings and communalities of the rotated two-factor solution Rotated Structure Matrix for PCA with Varimax Rotation of a Two Component Questionnaire

The interpretation of the data revealed that the items designed to measure knowledge and confidence loaded strongly onto component 1, suggesting these items are measuring the same factor. Items designed to measure worry and 1 item designed to measure confidence (item 17) loaded onto component 2.

Regarding item 17 "I'm unsure whether my service would support me to do attachment informed work with children with attachment difficulties", this item was phrased differently to other confidence items in the questionnaire, using the words "I'm unsure" as opposed to "I am confident." It is possible that this difference in language is the reason this item loads onto component 2 with other 'worry' items, rather than component 1 with other confidence items. Items 16, 17, 19, 20 did not have any correlation coefficients greater than 0.3, and as can be seen in table 3, these items also loaded weakly on the components. Item 19 had the weakest loadings. Low correlations coefficients and weak loadings suggest that these items are unrelated to the other items and could be removed from the questionnaire.

# **Construct Validity of KCWQ**

In order to further test the validity of the KCW questionnaire, post hoc analyses were completed. Two factors were considered; gender and agency.

# Gender.

A pearson point-biserial correlation was run to determine the relationship between knowledge, confidence and worries and gender. Preliminary analyses showed that (a) there were no outliers as assessed by a boxplot; (b) knowledge, confidence and worries scores were normally distributed, as assessed by visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot; and (c) there was homogeneity of variances as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances (p = .173, .201, .159, respectively). There was no statistically significant correlation between gender and knowledge (p=.45), confidence (p=.13) or worries scores (p=.22).

# Agency.

Agency refers to whether a staff member is working within a team in social, education or health services. Means and standard deviations for knowledge, confidence and worries for each agency can be found in table 4.

	Agency	Mean (SD)	
Knowledge	Social Services	32.70 (3.74)	
	Education	32.09 (4.50)	
	Health	31.01 (3.10)	
Confidence	Social Services	14.95 (2.31)	
	Education	15.04 (2.54)	
	Health	13.61 (2.33)	
Worries	Social Services	7.45 (4.13)	
	Education	8.49 (3.91)	
	Health	8.28 (3.63)	

Table 4 presents the means and standard deviations for knowledge, confidence and worries scores for each agency.

NB: N= Social Services = 182, Education = 86, Health = 18

A one-way multivariate analysis of variance was run to determine the effect of staff's agency on knowledge, confidence and worries scores. There were 2 univariate outliers detected, however a one-way MANOVA without the outliers did not impact significance; therefore, they were kept in the analysis. Knowledge, confidence and worries scores were normally distributed for each agency, as assessed by visual inspection of Normal Q-Q Plots. There was no multicollinearity as assessed by a Pearson correlation for knowledge and confidence (r= .613, p<.001), knowledge and worries (r= -.199, p<.001) and worries and confidence (r= .402, p< .001). There was a linear relationship between knowledge, confidence and worries for each agency. There was homogeneity of variance-covariances matrices, as assessed by Box's test of equality of covariance matrices (p=.017). There was homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test of homogeneity of variance (p > 05). There were statistically significant differences between the different agencies on the combined dependent

variables F(6, 562) = 2.47, p < .05; Wilks' Lambda = .949; partial n<sup>2</sup> = .026. Follow-up univariate ANOVAs were not significant.

# Within-group analysis of training measures

# PROQOL

Table 6 presents the numbers of participants in the low, average, and high ranges for the three subscales of the ProQOL; compassion satisfaction, burnout and secondary traumatic stress, before and after the attachment training.

Table 6: Baseline scores for the ProQOL						
	Compassion	Burnout	Secondary			
	Satisfaction	N=	Traumatic Stress			
	N=		N=			
Pre						
Low (22-)	0	37	66			
Average (23-41)	93	79	50			
High (42+)	23	0	0			
Post						
Low (22-)	0	34	72			
Average (23-41)	87	82	44			
High (42+)	29	0	0			

**Compassion Satisfaction.** A paired-samples t-test (n=116) was used to determine whether there was a statistically significant mean difference between compassion satisfaction before and after training. There were no outliers detected more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot. The assumption of normality was not violated, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p=.650), and visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot (Laerd Statistics, 2015). There was no significance difference in compassion satisfaction scores before (M = 36.51, SD = 5.06) and after training (M = 37.28, SD = 5.5), 95% CI [-1.508 0.04], t(115) = 0.75, p > .05.

Secondary Traumatic Stress. A paired-samples t-test (n=116) was used to determine whether there was a statistically significant mean difference between STS scores before and after training. Two outliers were detected that were more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot. Inspection of their values did not reveal them to be extreme, and they were kept in the analysis. The assumption of normality was not violated, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p=.771), and visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot (Laerd Statistics, 2015).There was no significance difference in STS scores before (M = 21.86, SD = 4.37) and after training (M = 21.35, SD = 5.09), 95% CI [-0.24, 1.27], t(115) = 1.34, p > .05.

**Burnout.** A paired-samples t-test (n=116) was used to determine whether there was a statistically significant mean difference between burnout before and after training and after. There were no outliers detected more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot. The assumption of normality was not violated, as assessed by Shapiro-Wilk's test (p=.150), and visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot (Laerd Statistics, 2015).There was no significance difference in BO scores before (M = 25.98, SD= 5.39) and after training (M= 25.71, SD= 5.75), 95% CI [-0.45, 0.99], t(115) = 0.75, p > 05.

As all three t-tests showed non-significant differences, post hoc analysis for hypothesis 2 was not completed.

#### Knowledge, Confidence, Worries

**Confidence.** A one-way repeated measures ANOVA (n=135) was conducted to determine whether there were statistically significant differences in 'confidence' throughout training and 5 SDS's. The assumption of normality was not violated, as assessed by visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot. There were 20 outliers detected that were more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot and 1 outlier detected that was more than 3 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot. When the analysis was run with the outliers, the assumption of sphericity was not violated, as assessed by Mauchly's test of sphericity,  $X^2(2) = 4.18$ , p =.124. However, when the analysis was run without the outliers, the assumption of sphericity was violated, as assessed by Mauchly's test of sphericity; therefore, a Greenhouse-Geisser correction was applied ( $\epsilon$  = 0.908) (Laerd Statistics, 2015).

The attachment training intervention elicited statistically significant changes in confidence over time, F(1.82, 206.92) = 136.52, p < .001, partial  $\eta 2 = 0.545$ , with confidence increasing from pre-intervention(M= 11.39, SD = 2.42) to post intervention (M= 15.02, SD = 1.82), and decreasing from post to 5<sup>th</sup> SDS (follow up) (M=14.15, SD = 1.91). Post hoc analysis with a Bonferroni adjustment revealed that confidence was statistically significantly increased from pre-intervention to post intervention (M = 3.61, 95% CI [2.93, 4.29], p < .001), and from pre-intervention to the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS (follow up) (M = 2.67, 95% CI [1.97, 3.35], p < .001), but also statistically significantly decreased from post-intervention to follow up (M = -0.96, 95% CI [-1.55, -0.36], p < .001).

**Worries.** A one-way repeated measures ANOVA (n=135) was conducted to determine whether there were statistically significant differences in 'worries' throughout training and 5 SDS'. The assumption of normality was not violated, as assessed by visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot. There were 11 outliers detected that were more than 1.5 box-lengths from the edge of the box in a boxplot. A one-way repeated measures ANOVA without the outliers did not impact significance (p<.001) or assumption of sphericity (.079); therefore, they were kept in the analysis. The assumption of sphericity was not violated, as assessed by Mauchly's test of sphericity ( $\chi^2(2) = 5.86$ , p =0.053). (Laerd Statistics, 2015).

The attachment training intervention elicited statistically significant changes in worries over time, F(2, 268) = 22.48, p <.001, partial  $\eta 2 = 0.144$ , with worries decreasing from pre-intervention (*M*=9.33, *SD* =3.43) to post intervention (*M*=7.27, *SD* =3.85) to the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS (follow up) (*M*=7.22, *SD* =3.62). Post hoc analysis with a Bonferroni adjustment revealed that worries statistically significantly decreased from pre-intervention to post intervention (*M* = -2.06, 95% CI [-2.83, -1.28], p <.001), and from pre-intervention to the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS (follow up) (*M* = -2.11, 95% CI [-3.02, -1.19], p < .001). There was no significant difference in worries from post-intervention to follow up (*M* = -0.05, 95% CI [-0.96, 0.86], p > 05).

**Knowledge.** The assumption of normality was violated as assessed by visual inspection of a Normal Q-Q Plot. A Friedman test (n=135) was run to determine if there were differences in knowledge during the training and SDS. Pairwise comparisons were performed with a Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons. Knowledge scores were statistically significantly different at the different time points during the

training and SDS,  $\chi^2(2) = 131.90$ , p < .001. Kendall's W statistic = 0.49. Post hoc analysis revealed statistically significant differences in knowledge scores from pre-(*Mdn* = 25.65, p<.001) to post-intervention (*Mdn* = 32.19, p <.001), and from pretraining to the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS (follow up) (*Mdn* = 30.00, p<.001). Knowledge also statistically significantly decreased from post-intervention to follow up (p=.009).

Consideration was given to bootstrapping as an additional statistical technique to examine whether this permitted a more sophisticated analysis of the data; however, this was not possible on the current version of SPSS with repeated measures designs. Multi-level modelling using hierarchical analysis was also considered due to the nested nature of the design, however this was also not possible due to the complexity of the data; participants were not nested neatly within groups and within facilitators. Even within a particular location, multiple facilitators were involved with different groups at different times throughout the training and skills development sessions, making it very difficult to analyse the specific effects of facilitators, locality, and area on the outcome data. To provide a specific example, 3 teams (e.g. team 1, 2 and 3) from 2 locations trained together with facilitators 1 and 2, and then facilitator 1 saw team 1 for the SDSs with facilitator 3, facilitators 2 saw team 2 from the training with facilitator 5 for the SDSs, and then team 3 saw facilitators 3 and 4 for the SDSs. Ways of mitigating the impact of such highly nested data for future service evaluations are considered in the discussion.

#### **Cluster Analysis**

In order to understand non-significant trends in the data, cluster analysis was conducted to generate profiles of staff's CS and CF based on scores of KCW on pre training data. Profiles were based on the staff that had completed both the KCW and ProQOL at pre training time point, rendering a sample size of 287.

Cluster analysis was conducted in two steps to generate profiles based on three factors (knowledge, confidence and worries scores). There was no multicollinearity as assessed by Pearson correlation for knowledge and confidence (r= .66, p<.001), knowledge and worries (r= -.21, p<.001) and worries and confidence (r=-.46, p< .001). In the first step, a hierarchical cluster analysis was conducted (Ward's method with squared Euclidean distance). Based on the dendrogram and the aggregation curve, a three-cluster solution was identified. In the second step, K-means clustering was used to assign individuals to one of the clusters. A discriminant analysis showed differences between clusters (Wilks Lamda = 0.32, p<0.001) with 97.4% of cases correctly classified.

Data revealed three different groups, all characterised by different average knowledge, confidence and worries scores. The groups differed the most in 'knowledge' scores therefore were labelled in line with this. The first group was characterized with mean knowledge and confidence scores that were greater than one SD lower than the overall sample means and worries scores that were greater than one SD above the overall sample means (Table 7). This cluster was thus termed "low knowledge" (n= 58 [20.20%], women 77.59%, men 22.41%).

A second cluster was characterized with mean knowledge, confidence and worries scores similar to the overall average sample means. It was thus named "medium knowledge" cluster (n= 152 [52.96%], women 73.02%, men 26.34%). A third cluster was characterized with mean scores on knowledge and confidence scores that were over one SD above the overall sample means and worries scores that were almost half a SD lower than the overall sample means. It was thus called "high knowledge" cluster (n=77 [26.83%], women 81.81%, men 18.18%). There were no significant differences in the proportions of males and females between the different clusters ( $x^{(2)}$ = 1.55, p=0.46).

Table 7 cluster analysis means (standard deviations)						
Sample		Clusters				
N = 287		Low Knowledge Medium Knowledge		nowledge	High Knowledge	
		N = 58	20.20%	N = 152	52.96%	N=77 26.83%
Knowledge	25.54 (4.43)	20.40 (3.64)		24.89 (2.21)		30.70 (2.46)
Confidence	11.44 (2.84)	8.28 (2.30)		11.12 (1.79)		14.45 (1.74)
Worries	9.49 (3.46)	13.03 (3.07)		8.64 (2.54)		8.49 (3.62)

Using one-way analysis of variance, clusters were compared on levels of compassion satisfaction, burnout and secondary traumatic stress. There were no significant differences between the clusters (low, medium, high knowledge) on measures of compassion satisfaction (F(2, 284) = .17, p=.83), burnout (F(2, 284) = 2.33, p=.09) and secondary traumatic stress (F(2, 284) = 1.73, p=.17).

#### Discussion

For the within-group analysis, there were no significant differences found in any of the three subscales of the ProQOL; compassion satisfaction, burnout or secondary traumatic stress. As such, hypothesis 1 was not supported. Post hoc analysis for hypothesis 2 was not possible due to the non-significant findings of hypothesis 1. Hypothesis 3 was met, with significant increases in knowledge and confidence, and significant decreases in worries from pre to post and pre to follow up. Knowledge and confidence significantly decreased from post to follow up, whereas the reduction in worries held for follow up. The CFA of the KCW questionnaire showed a poor fit to the model, and a PCA suggested a two-component solution. Most of the items designed to measure knowledge and confidence loaded onto the same component. The items designed to measure worries loaded onto a second component. Five of the items had very low correlation coefficients and did not load highly onto either component. Examination of co-variables gender, agency and location provides some primary analysis on the construct validity of the KCWQ measure; scores were not significantly different between genders. The cluster analysis indicated that staff fit into three profiles based on their knowledge, confidence and worries scores (labelled as 'low', 'medium', and 'high' knowledge). There were no significant differences between the clusters (low, medium, high knowledge) on measures of compassion satisfaction, burnout and secondary traumatic stress.

To the researcher's knowledge, this was the first paper looking at the effect of attachment training on CF and CS; therefore, there are not any comparisons for the insignificant findings. Several suggestions might account for the lack of a significant

finding to support hypothesis 1. As the post hoc power analysis showed sufficient power and sample size, it is not likely that this test was underpowered; therefore, the most obvious conclusion from these results is that CF and CS do not change during training. The data on baseline scores for CS and CF may help to explain this; before training, all participants were in the low or average range for BO and STS, and the average or high range for CS. Substantial changes in this measure were therefore unlikely. Arguably the low-average baseline CF levels and average to high levels of CS in staff in public services is an encouraging finding, but perhaps this was reflective of a broader systemic problem regarding the ease of 'admitting' feeling compassion fatigued. Research has shown that historically, people acknowledging their burnout experience stigma and even threats to the stability of their employment if not anonymised (Amanullah, McNally, Zelin, Cole & Cernovsky, 2015). Although individualised data were anonymised in this study, the data was coded by team, the training took place within teams, including managers, and perhaps it felt too threatening to acknowledge feelings of CF within a professional context. Public services rely on, fosters and celebrates the hardworking, resilient staff member who never takes a sick day and routinely works over their allotted hours, Cherniss (1980, as cited by Leiter, 1991) also reasoned that the cultural context of working in public services and professional expectations leads to unrealistic expectations. Sarason's (1977, as cited by Leiter, 1991) research also highlights how people's careers and success are enmeshed with how people appraise themselves, potentially making CF a difficult topic on a personal level as well. Lastly, reviewing the definition of CF, it is also possible that the team members experiencing the most CF either did not attend both days of the training, did not participate in the SDS, or even be at work and off sick, thus their data not captured in this study.

As to hypothesis 3, increase in knowledge and confidence is in line with previous research, which found improved skills and confidence following effective attachment and trauma-informed training and SDS (Cavanagh et al, 2004, Walters, 2015, Heaney, 2017). The questionnaire used to measure KCW was designed specifically to the training, therefore was likely sensitive to the specific attachment themes. The fact that knowledge and confidence scores increased, and worries decreased could be taken as evidence for the efficacy of this training, but this conclusion is tentative given the results of the PCA. The 2-component solution in the PCA explained less than half of the variance; the recommended variance explained for a measure to be deemed valid is 60% (Hair, Black, Babin, & Anderson, 2010), although others in the field disagree with this figure (Laerd, 2015). The PCA indicates that the variables do not generally fit together well. This study does show that the KCW measure requires further thought in terms of the items it includes and the domains it covers. For example, considering the language of some of the weakly loaded questions, or exploratory work into other factor solutions that may explain more of the variance or by accepting a low variance explained percentage and reducing the questionnaire to measure two factors. Lastly, the findings for the SDS suggests that the SDS may not be targeting knowledge and confidence in the same way as the training did due to the significant decreases in both from post training to follow up (the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS).

The non-significant findings for gender enhance the construct validity of the KCWQ, as it shows that KCW scores do not depend on gender, which is what would be expected. Significantly different KCW based on agency (social services, education, health) is more ambiguous, particularly as the MANOVA found a significant difference, but follow up tests were unable to identify where the significant difference(s) were. The

lack of a significant difference found by the follow-up tests may be due to large discrepancies in sample sizes between each agency (e.g., health had a sample size of 18, and social services had a sample size of 182 staff members) leading to followup analyses being underpowered, especially when including agencies with lower sample sizes). It could be argued that the significantly different scores based on agency also enhance construct validity as each agency has a very different background of education and skill set, therefore such baseline differences between agencies might be expected.

The cluster with the highest knowledge scores ('high knowledge' cluster) was also the cluster with the highest confidence and lowest worry scores, which is to be expected. The cluster with the lowest knowledge scores was also the cluster with the lowest confidence and highest worries scores, which again is to be expected. The cluster labelled 'medium knowledge', had the highest sample size and was similar across all the KCW scores to the overall sample. In the present study, at baseline, there was no evidence that these different clusters of knowledge, confidence and worries relating to working within an attachment informed were associated with different levels of compassion satisfaction, burnout or secondary traumatic stress.

## Limitations

There are limitations to the reliability of the KCW findings, particularly as the PCA showed poor loadings of some items and explained less than half of the variance. In an ideal world, it would have been good practice to make modifications to the KCW questionnaire from the PCA, collect data with further participants, and retest the

modified version with factor analysis. Secondly, there were also large amounts of missing data at different time points, as shown by the number of participants included in the various analyses, which reduced the sample size. Thirdly research of this nature is very bespoke to the service, and it is hard to generalise to other services, geographical areas and training programmes. Fourthly, the service did not collect demographic data beyond gender, thus, factors such as ethnicity or age may explain some of the findings; however, are missing from the analysis. Lastly, although the service had planned to collect the data such that the same facilitators would teach the same group for both training days and the 6 SDS', this was not possible due to staff sickness and turnover. As a result, the data in this design are highly nested, which makes it very difficult to ascertain whether the outcomes were biased by correlations within facilitators /groups /agencies /locations being significantly higher than between facilitators/ groups / agencies / locations, and makes it very difficult to conduct multilevel modelling analysis. There are clear implications for the service in terms of ensuring for future staff training that the same facilitator sees one group for all the time periods that are to be included in the analysis in order to allow for more complex analysis to be undertaken.

## Recommendations for service delivery and clinical practice

Service applications and recommendations include; given that the current study's data on compassion satisfaction, burnout and secondary traumatic stress showed that participants on the whole may not have had any problems in these areas, it may be beneficial for the service to better target individuals with scores on these measures that do evidence problems in these areas, particularly as the service has recruitment

opportunities planned for teams in mainstream schools. It has been argued that scores may not have been reliable if participants felt motivated to downplay problems in these areas and, as such, it may be beneficial for the service to investigate whether participants experienced difficulties talking about these problems, and if so to make changes to the methodology, for example, more stringent anonymising or adding training on burnout and wellness to normalise these experiences. Thirdly, to address the reductions in knowledge and confidence during the SDS, the service could pilot introducing more or 'refresher' theoretical training into the SDS. Regarding the KCW questionnaire, further research into adapting the KCW questionnaire would be useful and whether these changes find a different PCA component solution to explain 60% or more of the variance. Lastly, while we can conclude that KCW may increase as a result of training, the generalisability of this finding is only to staff KCW, and does not in itself speak to how these changes in KCW will be sustained beyond the period this study collected data for, or, crucially, its impact on other vital outcomes such as service-user improvement. The service needs to keep collecting data, and future research should look to see how changes in staff KCW translate into changes in CYP, parents and carers wellbeing and attachment relationships.

## Wider implications for theory and practice

Future studies of this nature should focus on a simpler, less nested research designs in the planning stages in order to allow for more complex analyses accounting for factors that might affect the outcomes of interest. The attachment field is lacking high quality, reliable and valid measures for attachment-informed working; therefore, the

analysis of the KCW questionnaire and suggested further analysis also has wider implications for attachment research.

# **Conflict of Interest Declaration**

The author reports no conflict of interest. This research was conducted as part of the researcher's Doctorate in Clinical Psychology at Cardiff University. The funding for this course is provided by NHS Wales.

#### References

Amanullah, S., McNally, K., Zelin, J., Cole, J., & Cernovsky, Z. (2017). Are burnout prevention programs for hospital physicians needed? *Asian journal of psychiatry*, 26, 66-69. <u>doi:10.1016/j.ajp.2017.01.009</u>

Barber, M., Short, J., Clarke-Moore, J., Lougher, M., Huckle, P., & Amos, T. (2006). A secure attachment model of care: Meeting the needs of women with mental health problems and antisocial behaviour. *Criminal Behaviour and Mental Health*, 16, 3–10. doi:10.1002/cbm.56

Bowlby, J. (1982). *Attachment and loss, Vol. 1: Attachment*. (2<sup>nd</sup> ed.). New York: Basic Books.

Bucci, S., Roberts, N. H., Danquah, A. N., & Berry, K. (2015). Using attachment theory to inform the design and delivery of mental health services: A systematic review of the literature. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, *88*(1), 1-20. doi:10.1111/papt.12029

Cattell, R. B. (1966). The scree test for the number of factors. *Multivariate Behavioral Research, 1,* 245-276. doi:10.1207/s15327906mbr0102\_10

Cavanagh, M., Read, J., & New, B. (2004). Childhood abuse: Inquiry and response. A New Zealand training program. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 33, 137-144.

Craig, C. D., & Sprang, G. (2010). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, and burnout in a national sample of trauma treatment therapists. *Anxiety, Stress, & Coping, 23*(3), 319-339. doi:10.1080/10615800903085818

Cronbach, L. J. (1951). Coefficient alpha and the internal structure of the tests. *Psychometrika*, *16*, 297-334. doi:10.1007/BF02310555

de Jong, T., Wiezer, N., de Weerd, M., Nielsen, K., Mattila-Holappa, P., & Mockałło, Z. (2016). The impact of restructuring on employee well-being: a systematic review of longitudinal studies. Work & Stress, 30(1), 91-114. doi.org/10.1080/02678373.2015.1136710

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A. G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\* Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior research methods, 39*(2), 175-191. Retrieved from <u>https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.3758%2FBF03193146.pdf</u>

Feinstein, L. (2015). Quantifying the Benefits of Early Intervention in Wales: A Feasibility Study Leon Feinstein Early Intervention Foundation, *Public Policy Institute* 

*For Wales*, Retrieved from <u>http://ppiw.org.uk/files/2014/10/PPIW-Report-Quantifying-</u> <u>the-benefits-of-early-intervention.pdf</u>

Field, A. (2018). Discovering Statistics Using IBM SPSS Statistics. London: Sage.

Fraley, R. C., & Shaver, P. R. (2000). Adult romantic attachment: Theoretical developments, emerging controversies, and unanswered questions. *Review of general psychology*, *4*(2), 132-154. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.4.2.132

Gillath, O., Shaver, P. R., Mikulincer, M., Nitzberg, R. E., Erez, A., & Van Ijzendoorn, M. H. (2005). Attachment, caregiving, and volunteering: Placing volunteerism in an attachment-theoretical framework. *Personal Relationships*, *12*(4), 425-446. doi:10.1111/j.1475-6811.2005.00124

Hair, J. F., Black, W. C., Babin, B. J., & Anderson, R. E. (2010).

Multivariate data analysis (7th ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.

Heaney, C. M. (2017). *Literature review: the effectiveness of attachment informed training for health, social care and educational staff: what components are needed?* Unpublished manuscript.

Jackson, C., Heaney, C. M., Walters, S., & Wilcox, M. (2017). *Literature Review: Psychology models of group consultation for staff working with children with attachment difficulties and developmental trauma*. Unpublished manuscript.

Kaiser, H. F. (1974). An index of factorial simplicity. *Psychometrika*, 39, 32-36.
doi:10.1007/BF02291575
Kirkaldie, H., & McDonnell, L. (2016) *Looking Back to Move Forward: A Review of 13 Complex Cases*. Summary report available from health board. Unpublished.

Laerd Statistics (2015). *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. Retrieved from <a href="https://statistics.laerd.com/">https://statistics.laerd.com/</a>

Laerd. Statistics (2018). Testing for Normality using SPSS Statistics. Retrieved from <a href="https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/testing-for-normality-using-spss-statistics-2.php">https://statistics.laerd.com/spss-tutorials/testing-for-normality-using-spss-statistics-2.php</a>

Laerd. Statistics (2018). Sphericity. Retrieved from

https://statistics.laerd.com/statistical-guides/sphericity-statistical-guide.php

Leiter, M. (1991). The dream denied: professional burnout and the constraints of human service organizations. *Canadian Psychology*, *32*(4), 547-558. doi:10.1037/h0079040

Lieberman, A. F., & Van Horn, P. (2011). *Psychotherapy with infants and young children: Repairing the effects of stress and trauma on early attachment*. London: Guilford Press.

MacBeth, A., Gumley, A., Schwannauer, M., & Fisher, R. (2011). Attachment states of mind, mentalization, and their correlates in a first-episode psychosis sample. *Psychology and Psychotherapy: Theory, Research and Practice*, *84*(1), 42-57. <u>doi:10.1348/147608310X530246</u>

Main, M., & Solomon, J. (1990). Procedures for identifying infants as disorganized/disoriented during the Ainsworth Strange Situation. In M. T. Greenberg, D. Cicchetti, & E. M. Cummings (Eds.), *Attachment in the preschool years: Theory, research, and intervention* (pp. 121-160). University of Chicago Press.

Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2005). Attachment security, compassion, and altruism. *Current directions in psychological science*, *14*(1), 34-38. doi:10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005.00330

Mikulincer, M., & Shaver, P. R. (2017). An attachment perspective on compassion and altruism. In P. Gilbert (Ed.), *Compassion: concepts, research and applications* (pp 187-202). London: Routledge Taylor & Francis.

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., & Berant, E. (2013). An attachment perspective on therapeutic processes and outcomes. *Journal of Personality*, *81*(6), 606-616. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6494.2012.00806

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Gillath, O., & Nitzberg, R. A. (2005). Attachment, caregiving, and altruism: boosting attachment security increases compassion and helping. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, *89*(5), 817. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.89.5.817

National Assembly for Wales. (2014). Inquiry into Child and Adolescent Mental HealthServices.Retrievedhttp://www.senedd.assembly.wales/mglssueHistoryHome.aspx?IId=8676

National Institute for Clinical Excellence (NICE) (2015). *Attachment difficulties in children and young people overview*. Retrieved from <a href="https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/attachment-difficulties-in-children-and-young-people">https://pathways.nice.org.uk/pathways/attachment-difficulties-in-children-and-young-people</a>

Newell, J. M., & MacNeil, G. A. (2011). A comparative analysis of burnout and professional quality of life in clinical mental health providers and health care administrators. *Journal of Workplace Behavioral Health, 26*(1), 25-43. doi:10.1080/15555240.2011.540978

Public Health Wales. (2015). *Welsh Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study: ACE and their impact on health-harming behaviours in the Welsh adult population.* Retrieved from <u>http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sitesplus/888/page/88504</u>

Ray, S. L., Wong, C., White, D., & Heaslip, K. (2013). Compassion satisfaction, compassion fatigue, work life conditions, and burnout among frontline mental health care professionals. *Traumatology*, *19*(4), 255-267. doi:10.1177/1534765612471144

Rossi, A., Cetrano, G., Pertile, R., Rabbi, L., Donisi, V., Grigoletti, L., ... & Amaddeo, F. (2012). Burnout, compassion fatigue, and compassion satisfaction among staff in community-based mental health services. *Psychiatry Research*, *200*(2-3), 933-938. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2012.07.029

Seager, M., Orbach, S., Samuels, A., Sinason, V., Johnstone, L., Fredman, G., & Kinderman, P. (2007). *National Advisory group on mental health, safety & well-being: Towards proactive policy: Five universal psychological principles.* Department of Health. Unpublished manuscript.

Stamm, B. H. (2010). *The Professional Quality of Life Scale: Compassion Satisfaction and Compassion Fatigue (PROQOL)*. Retrieved from <u>www.proqol.org</u> The Centre for Social Justice. (2008). *"Couldn't Care Less" Children in Care Report.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/press-releases/couldnt-care-less-children-in-care-report</u>

The Centre for Social Justice. (2014). *Enough is Enough; a report on child protection and mental health services for children and young people.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/core/wp-</u>

content/uploads/2016/08/enough.pdf

The Centre for Social Justice. (2011). Completing the Revolution: transforming mentalhealthandtacklingpoverty.Retrievedfromhttps://www.centreforsocialjustice.org.uk/core/wp-content/uploads/2016/08/CompletingtheRevolution.pdf

Thurstone, L. L. (1947). *Multiple factor analysis*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Walters, S. (2015). Research Portfolio Submitted in Part Fulfilment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctorate in Clinical Psychology. University of Bath. Unpublished manuscript.

Waters, C., and Todd-Jones, J. (2016). An analysis of gaps in service provision in child and adolescent mental health services in the catchment area of \*a Welsh\* university
*health board strengthening the connections.* Unpublished manuscript. Executive summary available from health board.

Welsh Government. (2015). 'Together for Children and Young People': Framework forAction.Retrievedhttp://www.wales.nhs.uk/documents/Framework%20For%20Action.pdf

Zaslow, M., Tout, K., Halle, T., Vick, J., & Lavelle, B. (2010). *Towards the identification* of features of effective professional development for early childhood educators: A review of the literature. Report prepared for the U.S. Department of Education. Retrieved from: <u>http://ed.gov/rschstat/eval/professional-</u> <u>development/literaturereview.pdf</u>

# List of Tables Paper 2

Table 1: Goodness-of-Fit Indicator of a model for knowledge, confidence and worries

Table 2: Unstandardized and standardized loadings for confirmatory factor analyses

Table 3: Component loadings and communalities of the rotated two-factor solution

Table 4: Means and standard deviations for knowledge, confidence and worries for agency.

Table 5: Means and standard deviations for knowledge, confidence and worries for locations.

Table 6: Baseline scores for the ProQOL

Table 7: Means and standard deviations for knowledge, confidence and worries clusters.

# **List of Figures Paper 2**

Figure 1: Face Validity of KCW

Paper 3 is not intended for publication. It has been prepared in accordance with the APA manual author guidelines, 6<sup>th</sup> edition.

# **Paper 3: Critical Appraisal**

# A reflective paper on the process of completing the systematic review and the empirical paper.

Word count (excluding figures/tables): 4,271

This paper is a critical review reflecting on the research process of the submitted theses. The strengths and weaknesses of paper 1 and 2 are discussed, alongside theoretical implications, service implications, suggestions for further research and proposals for dissemination. Personal and professional development is also included. This paper is not intended for publication.

#### Systematic review

My interest in attachment theory, research and its applications has developed over the three years of completing the doctorate in clinical psychology. Through my various placements and teaching from local clinicians, my interest in how we can all become more psychologically minded in our everyday lives grew. I started to apply some of this thinking to clients, and broader, to services, for example whether some of the difficulties with accessing services could be addressed at a community, personal level, by a better understanding of our attachment styles within our relationships.

#### **Developing a research question**

Throughout the systematic review process, I followed the guidance by Boland, Cherry and Dickson (2017). Appendix 20 maps out the process of discovering my research question. I had a general topic of interest to me, which was attachment style and compassion behaviour, a google scholar search found 3-4 varied papers that looked relevant and interesting. My first step was to check Prospero (National Institute for Health Research, 2019) for other systematic reviews related to the topic. To narrow down my options for a systematic review, I firstly read the 3-4 papers to gain ideas for initial search terms. Secondly, I met with a University librarian with knowledge of psychological research, for further advice on search terms and carrying out early scoping searches. Thirdly I read some book chapters (Gilbert, 2017, Simpson & Rholes, 1998, 2015, Griffin & Bartholomew, 1994, Cassidy, 1999) to consolidate the conceptual links between attachment and compassion. I discovered issues relating to the measuring and conceptualising of compassion in the literature; current experimental procedures in the research seem to entangle different facets into a compassion definition; therefore, there were many different definitions of compassion and thus various measures. There were also separate bodies of literature on 'self-compassion', 'compassion' or 'compassion behaviour'.

I experimented with searching for many terms used in definitions of compassion as well as 'compassion', such as altruism, prosocial, responsiveness, caregiving, sensitivity, sympathy, and empathy. One of the most conceptually coherent facets of compassion in the literature at this point were behavioural measures of compassion towards other people (e.g. volunteering, caregiving). Over several scoping searches with over 4300 hits, I discovered different topic areas that involved attachment and caregiving/compassion. From this, I could see there was an area of attachment style and caregiving behaviour in various groups (e.g. adult couple relationships, between adult children and their elderly parents, healthcare professionals and clients). I took out the term compassion and saw that the number of hits was not affected by this, which made me question whether all the related terms to compassion. Five potentially relevant articles were lost with the removal of the compassion words, so I added 3 extra keywords; empathy, social support and sensitivity. With further scoping searches, I was able to refine the search terms and inclusion and exclusion criteria, to

ensure all relevant papers were being picked up across the different databases. I decided not to include 'videotape' as a search term, to keep the breadth of the search wide. I made the decision not to include dissertations at this stage due to the Vickers and Smith (2000) research and to ensure data quality. The PICOSS (population, intervention, comparator, outcome, study design, setting) table (appendix 21) outlined my final plan. Once I had established my research question, I registered it with Prospero (PROSPERO, 2019, CRD42019127223).

#### **Quality Assessment**

I chose the Appraisal Tool for Cross Sectional Studies (AXIS, Downes, Brennan, Williams & Dean, 2016) as it provided options of 'yes/no/don't know' as responses, rather than a numerical score. This better conveys the weighted qualitative importance of 'critical' elements of the quality assessment (Downes et al, 2016). It also includes items about quality of reporting as well as the robustness of the method. The limitation of this tool is that it lacks a way to categorise studies in terms of overall quality score. Some of the items were also insensitive to the complexity of some of the studies, this is discussed further in the following paragraphs. On reflection, I could have developed a bespoke tool to rate quality to increase the sensitivity of the measure to this kind of research, however, the use of a non-validated tool would have been a disadvantage as various validities and reliabilities would be unknown.

I discovered that the process of a second-rater was necessary, I had felt that the AXIS checklist was relatively straight-forward, and that subjective bias would be minimal. However, this was not the case, we did have different ratings for some of the items,

and it was often due to exactly how the items were read and understood. We were able to talk about which data pertains to which question (from the AXIS guide), which gave me a clear plan of what information I was using to answer each item, for instance, item 6 was about the sampling method, item 5 was whether the sample was representative but item 4 was a general question of the population. Overall there was a substantial level of agreement with a kappa score of 0.71. When there was disagreement, we discussed our differences until we made a consensus. I realised that 3 papers per work sitting were my limit before my ratings became more subjective; our scores were most divergent for my 4<sup>th</sup> rated study. By discussing our differences, on reflection, I had missed details or been too lenient with my ratings. As a result, the process of a second-rater highlighted subjectivities to look out for and refined my quality assessment methods.

Having a second rater also allowed discussion of the various issues with non-sensitive questions. For example, item 9 *"were the risk factor and outcome variables measured correctly using instruments/ measurements that had been trialled, piloted or published previously?*" was not particularly sensitive to the vast array of measures used in these studies, many of the studies used validated attachment measures, but also used non-validated Likert scales for other variables. The question also did not adequately capture the quality of the paper which used two methods of measuring of attachment, e.g. self-reported AAQ and face to face interview (adult attachment interview, AAI, George, Kaplan, & Main, 1996), which is a limitation of the quality assessment. I decided to answer "Yes" (item met) if a study used a validated measure, regardless of whether they also used non-validated measures, with the caveat that conclusions regarding caregiving were often drawn from non-validated Likert scale items.

To categorise the studies overall qualities for comparison, I decided to take a similar approach by Shea et al (2017) with the AMSTAR-2 quality assessment tool. I considered the impact of each item and designed a categorising method. I chose the items for the critical domains and overall rating cut-offs from guidance from the AMSTAR-2, in collaboration with my research supervisor. I assigned most of the studies as 'low quality' (defined as having either two critical flaws or 1 critical flaw and 4+ non-critical flaws). The most common critical flaws were the use of an unjustified unrepresentative sample (undergraduates, short relationships) and measurement issues with attachment (most used self-report questionnaires) and caregiving (different coding manuals, Likert scales). Despite having many of the same weaknesses as the other studies, I assigned one paper as 'moderate' quality, and this was due to an included justification of sample bias in the discussion. Generally, low quality made drawing any firm conclusions difficult. I, thus, drew the main conclusions and theoretical implications from the highest quality paper, Collins and Feeney (2000).

#### Other methodological issues

As mentioned in paper 1, an inherent issue in the field of attachment is the use of selfreported attachment style questionnaires, when attachment styles can fluctuate over time (Davila et al, 1999, as cited by Cobb et al, 2001). This may explain some of the discrepancies in the findings, particularly in relation to anxiously attached caregivers. Only 1 of the papers (Simpson, Rholes, Orina & Grich, 2002) used the AAI (George, Kaplan, & Main, 1996) which has the highest psychometric properties and reliability and validity (Ravitz, Maunder, Hunter, Sthankiya, & Lancee, 2010), and this was likely due to the time and cost involved with using the AAI. It is also likely there is a language bias present in the systematic review as, during one of the filtering stages, 3 studies were screened out due to only being available in full text in Spanish. In addition to this, studies that report significant findings are most likely to be published in English-language journals whereas studies with null or negative findings are more likely to be published in non-English language journals (Boland et al, 2017). In a similar vein, publication bias is also likely as studies that report significant findings are more likely to be submitted and selected for publication in a peer-reviewed journal than studies that report null findings (Cochrane Methods Bias, nd).

A further limitation was that I was unable to complete a meta-analysis and provide a heterogeneity statistic due to differences in methods and measures used in the included studies.

## **Theoretical Implications**

As Collins and Feeney (2000) comment, there is little understanding regarding the mechanisms that can explain ineffective caregiving. One theory is that adults with anxious attachment styles may be over-reliant on other people and may struggle to minimise their own attachment needs to provide responsive and supportive care (Collins & Feeney, 2000). It is unknown as to whether this may be due to a lack of skills, or a lack of motivation or resources to provide care. Collins and Feeney (2000) argue that as anxious caregivers gave responsive care when partners needs were clear that this suggests they do have the skills but lack the attentional resources; however other research suggests a lower caregiving skill set such as a limited ability

to decode nonverbal messages (Feeney, Noller, & CaUan, 1994, as cited by Collins and Feeney, 2000). Even within the short time during the study interaction, when careseekers perceived their partners behaviour as caring and supportive, their emotional wellbeing improved. A small provision of care from their partner's helped to decrease their distress, and it is this premise that may help us to understand the continuing benefits of a supportive relationship (Collins & Feeney, 2000). Unsupportive care may lead to feelings of rejection and have the opposite effect by heightening distress. Even small acts of care are likely to support a partner with their daily struggles, and thus lead to improved psychological and physical health and wellbeing (DeLongis, Folkman, & Lazarus, 1988, as cited by Collins & Feeney, 2000). As discussed in paper 1, caregiving is part of a complex dyadic process coupled with care-seeking), and both play a role in the development and maintenance of a happy, healthy relationship.

In considering the theoretical implications from the systematic review, I have consolidated my understanding that part of the role of a psychologist is to be critical regarding understanding research. For example, the use of simple conceptualisations of attachment styles in these papers (i.e. only analysing avoidant and anxious styles) are critiqued in paper 1, and perhaps explain some of the inconsistencies. When reflecting on these implications, I have understood not to overstate or overemphasise findings from papers, and that considering the quality of the research, and the underlying constructs are essential, valuable parts of conducting research.

#### Implications for clinical practice

During my search for a research question, I learnt about the difficulties associated with conceptualising even well-known ideas such as compassion, and attachment. The most well-used terms can be used so differently by different researchers and clinicians, which has an impact on the quality, comparability and generalisability of the research. It has been helpful for me to reflect on the development of my own research skills and knowledge throughout this process.

Paper 1 highlights potential clinical applications for this type of research, for example experimentally priming people with names of attachment figures to encourage greater responsiveness and improve caregiving in people with insecure attachment styles (Mikulincer & Shaver, 2013, 2014) or by considering a partner's attachment style in the assessment of a young adult, if they are in relationship. However, as mentioned in Paper 1, any theoretical or clinical implications drawn from the review were only tentative due to the poor-quality assessment ratings. I learnt that in this scenario, it is most appropriate to draw implications for clinical practice from research, to again, only draw recommendations for the participants used, such as (in the case for paper 1), participants aged in their 20's involved in the first 2 years of a relationship. I can generalise this learning to how I will approach research, for example, finding a large amount of bias and low-quality research will influence how I will read and understand research papers in the future.

#### **Empirical paper**

The general research area was presented during a research fayre at the University. As described in paper 2, a gaps analysis (Waters & Todd-Jones, 2016), and complex case review (Kirkaldie & McDonnell, 2016) found that primary and secondary care services were not meeting the needs of children and young people with attachment and developmental/complex trauma. A CAMHS service in Wales developed a training package for attachment-informed working and are providing it to frontline staff in health, social services and education to bridge the gap between these unmet needs in children's services. The CAMHS service was interested in the impact of this.

#### **Developing a research question**

There is a substantial evidence base looking at the differences in attachment styles and compassion for others, in many types of relationships, e.g. parent-child, adult romantic couples, strangers, healthcare professionals-clients. The service was not collecting data on the frontline staff's attachment styles but was providing information about attachment and teaching staff how to work in an attachment informed way with children with attachment and developmental/complex trauma.

My idea for the link of knowledge of attachment to compassion started from a personal anecdotal realisation. During the second year of the doctoral programme, we attended several teaching days on attachment. I remember a day about adult attachment and health services, particularly people labelled as "frequent flyers". I know, for myself, that thinking in an attachment-informed way made me consider people differently, within a context that took trauma and relationship histories into account, when considering their

current behaviour and relationships with services. This affected the way I saw my work, my job, and how I felt about the job. I reasoned that this could be an interesting direction for this research.

The service was collecting data using the professional quality of life scale (ProQOL, Stamm, 2010), which measures compassion satisfaction (perceived pleasure experienced when working with people who have experienced trauma) and compassion fatigue (burnout, and secondary traumatic stress), therefore I decided to focus on this measure, along with the bespoke knowledge, confidence and worries (KCW) questionnaire designed by the service. A fellow trainee psychologist also completed her research with the service. Our projects overlap with the use and analysis of the KCW measure; however, her focus was looking at the impact on staff wellbeing and perceptions of support.

## Method

The method used in this project had been pre-determined by the service and was already underway when we got involved. In the design of the attachment training, the service completed literature reviews and coproduced the training with service users and carers, which was a strength of the service. The service commissioned "Voices from Care" to complete focus groups with young care-leavers and interviewed adoptive parents and foster carers about their experiences of education, health and social services to find out how the public was currently experiencing those agencies. The service also consulted with the local family and therapies partnership board with representatives from the leadership of health, social services and education. On a personal level, it was useful and encouraging to see the added value of a service coproducing training, and I aim to use co-production in my research in the future.

#### Limitations

Using a bespoke questionnaire is a limitation for the service and the thesis, particularly as it was designed by a member of staff who had left; therefore, it was difficult to obtain information about the process involved in developing the questionnaire. The limited validity and reliability of this questionnaire is a significant limitation. A different, more appropriate methodology may have been to use a Delphi consensus for the measure.

#### Data and statistical analysis

Throughout the research process, there were various issues with the data. Firstly historically, the data entry for the attachment training had depended on an assistant psychologist working within the understaffed service. As a result, there were a few inconsistencies with the data set, for example, the KCW questionnaire was scaled differently for different staff groups. This meant that a process of data re-coding and data cleaning was required before any analysis could take place. However, this process should be carried out for all data analysis regardless, and it is a good skill to have learnt, and I will remember to use this in my future research. There was also a large proportion of missing data, particularly for the PROQOL. More people completed the KCW measure, and this is likely reflective of the times the measures were taken. The KCW measure was taken before and after the 2-day training and at the 5<sup>th</sup> skills development session (SDS), whereas the PROQOL was collected before the 2-day training and at the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS. This suggests that a large proportion of people either

cannot attend the 5<sup>th</sup> SDS or do not attend all the SDS to the finish. Multiple imputation was attempted to replace missing data; however, this was not appropriate for all the types of analyses I wanted to do (for example, factor analysis). As mentioned in paper 2, for participants with over 80% of the data for each questionnaire, missing values were replaced by the nearby mean. Participants with over 20% of the data for a single questionnaire were not included in that questionnaire's analysis.

I met with two members of the school of psychology team and a University statistician for advice and guidance regarding statistical analysis. The process has taught me that there are differing opinions within statistical methods, and there can be a degree of subjectivity within statistical methods, based on the advice chosen. In hindsight, it would have been easier to have started my statistical analysis sooner, in anticipation of different opinions and guidance. For example, when reading the guidance for principal component analysis. I learnt that there was not one objective way of deciding how many components to retain for rotation and interpretation; the decision has a degree of subjectivity, as well as some statistical consideration (Laerd, 2015). The process of deciding involved 4 criteria, firstly, an eigenvalue less than one should not be retained, as the component explains less variance than a variable would, however, this criterion becomes subjective when the eigenvalue of a component is close to 1 (Laerd, 2015). I originally ran a 5-component solution, and 3 of the factors had eigenvalues very close to 1, highlighting the subjectivity here. The second criterion is regarding the proportion of total variance accounted for, some statisticians suggest retaining as many components that explain at least 60% of the variance, however, others argue that this percentage is arbitrary, thus weakens the criterion (Laerd, 2015). Thirdly, the scree plot test suggested that the number of components to retain are

those before the inflection point of the graph, which represents the point where the graph starts to steady, and further components add very little to the variance (Laerd, 2015). Again, there were different understandings of this criterion in my readings; however, it seemed that by the 3<sup>rd</sup> component, the graph had levelled out, thus 2 components were before the inflection point. The last criterion, the interpretability criterion, showed that a two-component solution achieved a simple structure, where each variable loads strongly onto one component, and each component loads strongly onto three or more variables (Laerd, 2015). A five-factor or a three-factor solution did not have a simple structure, whereas a two-component solution did. The interpretability criterion is argued as the most important criterion, and it was this one that I ultimately based my decision on for a two-factor solution. PCA is often criticised for its subjectivity, as researchers can achieve very different results from the same data set, based on the decisions made (Laerd, 2015). I have learnt that often there was not a perfect way of answering a question and that it was acceptable to choose a direction of analyses, even with conflicting advice, as long as there were appropriate justifications.

# **Theoretical Implications**

Any theoretical implications for this study are bespoke to the service. Compassion satisfaction and compassion fatigue did not change during training (an insignificant finding for hypothesis 1), which could not be explained by an underpowered sample. The data on baseline scores in the sample suggests that people were already experiencing average-high compassion satisfaction and low-average compassion fatigue at work, therefore it was unlikely that the training would have a significant effect

on this. Another explanation was that it might be possible that the staff members experiencing high levels of compassion fatigue were not actually in work, and potentially off sick, this could have skewed the results. The fact that knowledge and confidence scores significantly increased and worries significantly decreased could be taken as evidence for the efficacy of the training, although within acknowledgements of the limitations of the factor analysis of the KCW. The SDS sustained the same decrease in worries, suggesting that continuing consultation from the service was helpful for staff's professional worries at work.

The non-significant findings in paper 2 were interesting to uncover and explain. An important part of research is to investigate possible reasons for insignificant findings, and I am hopeful that the service will consider these as their data collection continues. I have learnt, again, the importance of not overstating results, but drawing appropriate conclusions, relevant to the sample studied.

## **Further research**

As recommended in paper 2, the service should keep collecting follow-up data, and future research should look to see how changes in KCW translate into changes in service-user outcomes and outcomes for parents and carers, including attachment relationships, and whether these changes in KCW are sustained beyond the period that I collected data for paper 2.

#### Service development

The study showed that the KCW measure requires further thought in terms of the items it includes and the domains it covers. The service might also want to consider whether there are staff members off sick, and whether compassion fatigue could be the reason, or contributing to the reason for not being at work, and if so, reaching them to provide training and consultation support.

#### Thesis process as a whole

In terms of the entire line of enquiry, the main limitations were that the research quality was poor (paper 1), and the findings for paper 2 are bespoke to one service, and significant findings are based on a measure that requires further development. That being said, this is a fruitful area for future research; there is tentative research to suggest that effective caregiving is partly based on attachment style for young adults. It is also important to highlight methodological quality for researchers in the field to be aware of the common issues when designing studies. There may also be a future for attachment-informed training to upskill frontline staff working with children with attachment and developmental/complex trauma.

#### **Proposals for dissemination**

Paper 1 was prepared in line with guidelines for the Journal of Personality and Social Psychology for submission. Paper 2 was prepared in line with guidelines for the Attachment and Human Development journal for submission. Dissemination of findings will be shared with the service, along with setting up a working group to implement the recommended changes. My fellow trainee psychologist (with the linked thesis) and I are planning a podcast aimed at the general public to discuss attachment, attachment informed training, and the tentative findings, limitations and service implications of our projects.

#### Personal and professional development

I have always been interested in research and was heavily involved in different research projects as a psychology placement student, assistant psychologist and trainee clinical psychologist. I have found the thesis process challenging, but also worthwhile. I worked more autonomously than anticipated, and this was partly due to understaffing within the service. In my future endeavours as a clinical psychologist leading a research project within a service, I look forward to designing and developing a project from the beginning. In terms of what I would do the same; I would continue to read research with consideration of quality and therefore the generalisability of the findings, I will continue to assess bias, particularly in samples, and tentatively draw conclusions for that group. An example of what I would do differently, if I am using a bespoke questionnaire in the future, I would initiate a transparent scoring system, with a clear bespoke manual for staff to refer to, and I would start gathering opinions and rationales for types of statistical analysis earlier on in the research process. The process has improved my confidence in doing research, and I look forward to future projects in the future as a qualified clinical psychologist.

#### References

Boland, A., Cherry, G., & Dickson, R. (Eds.). (2017). Doing a systematic review: a student's guide. Sage.

Cassidy, J. (1999). The nature of the child's ties. In J. Cassidy & P.R Shaver (Eds.), *Handbook of attachment: Theory, research, and clinical applications.* Rough Guides.

Cobb, R. J., Davila, J., & Bradbury, T. N. (2001). Attachment security and marital satisfaction: The role of positive perceptions and social support. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 27(9), 1131-1143. <u>doi:10.1177/0146167201279006</u>

Cochrane Methods Bias. (no date). *Reporting Biases*. Retrieved from <u>https://methods.cochrane.org/bias/reporting-biases</u>

Collins, N. L., & Feeney, B. C. (2000). A safe haven: An attachment theory perspective on support seeking and caregiving in intimate relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *78*(6), 1053. <u>doi:10.1037//0022-3514.78.6.1053</u>

Downes, M. J., Brennan, M. L., Williams, H. C., & Dean, R. S. (2016). Development of a critical appraisal tool to assess the quality of cross-sectional studies (AXIS). *BMJ open*, *6*(12), e011458. <u>doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-011458</u>

George, C., Kaplan, N., Main, M. (1996). *Adult Attachment Interview.* Unpublished manuscript.

Gilbert, P. (Ed.). (2017). *Compassion: Concepts, research and applications*. London: Routledge Taylor & Francis.

Kirkaldie, H., & McDonnell, L. (2016) *Looking Back to Move Forward: A Review of 13 Complex Cases.* Summary report available from health board. Unpublished.

Laerd Statistics (2015). *Statistical tutorials and software guides*. Retrieved from <a href="https://statistics.laerd.com/">https://statistics.laerd.com/</a>

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Bar-On, N., & Sahdra, B. K. (2014). Security enhancement, self-esteem threat, and mental depletion affect provision of a safe haven and secure base to a romantic partner. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *31*(5), 630-650. doi:10.1177/0265407514525887

Mikulincer, M., Shaver, P. R., Sahdra, B. K., & Bar-On, N. (2013). Can securityenhancing interventions overcome psychological barriers to responsiveness in couple relationships? *Attachment* & *Human Development*, *15*(3), 246-260. <u>doi:10.1080/14616734.2013.782653</u> National Institute for Health Research. (2019). *PROSPERO: International prospective register of systematic reviews*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero</u>

PROSPERO: Laura Coote. A systematic review of the effects of attachment style on caregiving in adult romantic relationships. PROSPERO 2019 CRD42019127223 Available from: http://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/display\_record.php?ID=CRD42019127223

Ravitz, P., Maunder, R., Hunter, J., Sthankiya, B., & Lancee, W. (2010). Adult attachment measures: A 25-year review. *Journal of psychosomatic research, 69*(4), 419-432. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychores.2009.08.006

Shea, B. J., Reeves, B. C., Wells, G., Thuku, M., Hamel, C., Moran, J., ... & Henry, D. A. (2017). AMSTAR 2: a critical appraisal tool for systematic reviews that include randomised or non-randomised studies of healthcare interventions, or both. *BMJ*, *358*, j4008. doi:10.1136/bmj.j4008

Simpson, J. A., & Rholes, W. S. E. (1998). *Attachment theory and close relationships.* New York: Guilford Press.

Simpson, J. A., & Rholes, W. S. (Eds.). (2015). *Attachment theory and research: New directions and emerging themes*. Guilford Publications.

Simpson, J. A., Rholes, W. S., Oriña, M. M., & Grich, J. (2002). Working models of attachment, support giving, and support seeking in a stressful situation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 28*(5), 598-608. <u>doi:10.1177/0146167202288004</u>

Stamm, B. H. (2010). *The Professional Quality of Life Scale: Compassion* Satisfaction and Compassion Fatigue (PROQOL). Retrieved from <u>www.proqol.org</u>

Strauss, C., Lever-Taylor, B., Gu, J., Kuyken, W., Baer, R., Jones, F., & Cavanagh, K. (2016). What is compassion and how can we measure it? A review of definitions and measures. *Clinical Psychology Review.* 47, 15-27. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2016.05.004

Vickers, A. J., & Smith, C. (2000). Incorporating data from dissertations in systematic reviews. *International Journal of Technology Assessment in Health Care*, *16*(2), 711-713. doi:<u>10.1017/S0266462300101278</u>

Waters, C., and Todd-Jones, J. (2016). *An analysis of gaps in service provision in child and adolescent mental health services in the catchment area of \*a Welsh\* university health board strengthening the connections.* Executive summary available from health board. Unpublished manuscript.

# Appendices

# Appendix 1

# Journal of Personality and Social Psychology Author Guidelines

Retrieved from <a href="https://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/psp/?tab=4">https://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/psp/?tab=4</a>

# Journal of Personality and Social Psychology®

Editors: Shinobu Kitayama, Kerry Kawakami, and M. Lynne Cooper ISSN: 0022-3514 eISSN: 1939-1315 Published: monthly Impact Factor: 5.733 Psychology - Social: 4 of 64 5-Year Impact Factor: 7.388

# **General Submission Guidelines**

The editorial team of *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* is committed to both transparency and rigor in conducting and reporting research. We believe that science advances through a cyclical and recursive process that includes both (i) a theory-building, exploratory/descriptive phase and (ii) a theory-testing, confirmatory phase. We therefore support and encourage research that is informed by both phases. Guided by this overarching philosophy, we set out some concrete submission standards.

# **Open Science**

Once a paper is published, APA requires authors to share their data with qualified researchers for the purpose of verifying published findings through reanalysis using identical or alternate statistical methods. To facilitate transparent and open research practices, *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* further encourages researchers to make data, analytic methods, and research materials reported in the published article available to all researchers for the purpose of reproducing the findings and replicating the results by specifying where or how other researchers can access this material.

Availability of Data. Upon submission, authors must indicate whether the data from each study included in the manuscript will be made available or provide a reason for not sharing the data.

Availability of Analytic Methods and Code. Upon submission, authors must indicate whether the analytic methods and code for each study included in the manuscript will be made available or provide a reason for not sharing this information.

Availability of Research Material. Upon submission, authors must indicate whether the research materials for each study included in the manuscript will be made available or provide a reason for not sharing the material.

Upon acceptance of the manuscript for publication, authors must provide links to trusted open-access repositories containing all data and materials they have agreed to provide.

*Disclosure of Prior Uses of Data.* Upon submission of a manuscript, the author must disclose any prior uses in published, accepted, or under review papers of data reported in the manuscript. The cover letter should include a complete reference list of these articles, and a description of the extent and nature of any overlap between the present submission and the previous work.

# Citation Standards

Upon submission, all data sets, materials and program code created by others must be appropriately cited in the text and listed in the reference section. Such materials should be recognized as original intellectual contributions and afforded recognition through citation.

Where possible, references for data sets and program code should include a persistent identifier assigned by digital archives, such as a Digital Object Identifier (DOI).

# Design and Analysis Transparency

Please refer to the specific section editorials and the Journal Article Reporting Standards (JARS) (PDF, 220KB) for instructions on information to include in method and results sections. It is particularly important to provide justifiable power considerations and specific details related to sample characteristics.

# Section Submission Guidelines

Submit manuscripts to the appropriate section editor. Section editors reserve the right to redirect papers as appropriate. When papers are judged as better suited for another section, editors ordinarily will return papers to authors and suggest resubmission to the more appropriate section. Rejection by one section editor is considered rejection by all; therefore, a manuscript rejected by one section editor should not be submitted to another. All three sections of *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* are now using a software system to screen submitted content for similarity with other published content. The system compares the initial version of each submitted manuscript against a database of 40+ million scholarly documents, as well as content appearing on the open web. This allows APA to check submissions for potential overlap with material previously published in scholarly journals (e.g., lifted or republished material).

## Interpersonal Relations and Group Processes

To submit to the Editorial Office of Kerry Kawakami, please submit manuscripts electronically through the Manuscript Submission Portal in Word Document format (.doc). Authors are also required to embed Tables and Figures within the manuscript, instead of providing these after the references.

## Manuscript Preparation

Prepare manuscripts according to the *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association* (6<sup>th</sup>edition). Manuscripts may be copyedited for bias-free

language (see Chapter 3 of the *Publication Manual*). Review APA's <u>Journal</u> <u>Manuscript Preparation Guidelines</u> before submitting your article.

Double-space all copy. Other formatting instructions, as well as instructions on preparing tables, figures, references, metrics, and abstracts, appear in the *Manual*. Additional guidance on APA Style is available on the <u>APA Style website</u>.

## Masked Review Policy

The journal has adopted a policy of masked review for all submissions. The cover letter should include all authors' names and institutional affiliations. The first page of text should omit this information but should include the title of the manuscript and the date it is submitted. Every effort should be made to see that the manuscript itself contains no clues to the authors' identity.

# Word Limits

Although papers should be written as succinctly as possible, there is no formal word limit on submissions.

# Abstract and Keywords

All manuscripts must include an abstract containing a maximum of 250 words typed on a separate page. After the abstract, please supply up to five keywords or brief phrases.

## References

List references in alphabetical order. Each listed reference should be cited in text, and each text citation should be listed in the References section.

## Tables

Use Word's Insert Table function when you create tables. Using spaces or tabs in your table will create problems when the table is typeset and may result in errors.

## Figures

Graphics files are welcome if supplied as Tiff or EPS files. Multipanel figures (i.e., figures with parts labeled a, b, c, d, etc.) should be assembled into one file. The minimum line weight for line art is 0.5 point for optimal printing. For more information about acceptable resolutions, fonts, sizing, and other figure issues, <u>please see the general guidelines</u>. When possible, please place symbol legends below the figure instead of to the side.

# Appraisal Tool for Cross Sectional Studies (AXIS)

	Question	Yes	No	Don't know/ Comment
Intr	oduction			l
1	Were the aims/objectives of the study clear?			
Me	hods	•		
2	Was the study design appropriate for the stated aim(s)?			
3	Was the sample size justified?			
4	Was the target/reference population clearly defined? (Is it			
	clear who the research was about?)			
5	Was the sample frame taken from an appropriate population			
	base so that it closely represented the target/reference			
	population under investigation?			
6	Was the selection process likely to select			
	subjects/participants that were representative of the			
	target/reference population under investigation?			
7	Were measures undertaken to address and categorise non-			
	responders?			
8	Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured			
	appropriate to the aims of the study?			
9	Were the risk factor and outcome variables measured			
	correctly using instruments/ measurements that had been			
	trialled, piloted or published previously?			
10	Is it clear what was used to determined statistical			
	significance and/ or precision estimates? (e.g. p-values,			
	confidence intervals)			
11	Were the methods (including statistical methods) sufficiently			
	described to enable them to be repeated?			
	sults		r	T
12	Were the basic data adequately described?			
13	Does the response rate raise concerns about non-response			
	bias?			
14	If appropriate, was information about non-responders			
	described?			
15	Were the results internally consistent?			
16	Were the results presented for all the analyses described in			
	the methods?			
	cussion	1	1	1
17	Were the authors' discussions and conclusions justified by			
4.0	the results?			
18	Were the limitations of the study discussed?			
Oth			1	
19	Were there any funding sources or conflicts of interest that			
	may affect the authors' interpretation of the results?			
20	Was ethical approval or consent of participants attained?	1	1	1

# Justifications for critical domains in AXIS

Domain	Justification
Was the study design appropriate for	Standard critical part of testing
the stated aims? (Item 2)	hypotheses accurately
Was the sample frame taken from an	Critical for this set of studies because
appropriate population base so that it	most of the participants are recruited
closely represented the target/reference	from an undergraduate pool of
population under investigation? (item 5)	participants, and are new couple
	relationships, doesn't capture longer
	term relationships and how caregiving
	potentially changes (not all papers
	reflect on this in the discussions). I think
	this one also accounts for item 4.
Were the risk factor and outcome	Standard critical part of testing
variables measured appropriate to the	hypotheses accurately.
aims of the study? (item 8)	
Were the risk factor and outcome	Critical for this set of studies as there
variables measured correctly using	are inherent problems with assessing
instruments/measurements that had	attachment style – e.g. self-reported
been trialled, piloted or published	attachment style changes over time.
previously? (item 9)	Also lots of likert scales are used, which weakens the quality.
Is it clear what was used to determined	See the significance levels in terms of
statistical significance and/or precision	the numbers, rather than relying on an
estimates? (e.g. p-values, confidence	authors written word of significance.
intervals) (item 10)	
Were the results internally consistent?	Standard critical part of testing
(item 15)	hypotheses accurately – I've also
	noticed in one paper that the numbers
	don't add up (and non-responders are
	not justified).
Were the authors' discussions and	Standard critical part of testing
conclusions justified by the results?	hypotheses accurately.
(item 17)	

# Table 3: Study characteristics of included studies

	Study	Study design	Location	Sponsor	Follow up
1	Cobb, Davila, & Bradbury (2001)	Observational/	Los Angeles (marriage	National Institute of Mental Health Grant	1 year
	Bradbury (2001)	Cross sectional	licenses filed in LA county).	Social sciences and humanities research council of Canada Doctoral Fellowship award.	
2	Collins &	Observational/	State University of New York at	National Science	None
	Feeney (2000)	Cross sectional	Buffalo	Foundation Grant.	
3	Feeney &	Randomised-	State University of New York at	Not reported	None
	Collins (2001)	experimental/observational	Buffalo and the University of		
		designs	California, Santa Barbara.		
4	Jayamaha,	Observational/	Study one = University of	School of Psychology	Study 1 - 1
	Girme, & Overall (2016)	Cross sectional	Auckland – paid participation	University of Auckland	year follow up
			Study two = city-based		
			university and associated		Study 2 - 1
			organisations such as		month
			recreation and health centres		follow up.
5	Mikulincer,	Randomised-	University in Israel.	Grant from the Fetzer	None
	Shaver, Bar-On,	experimental/observational		Institute.	
	Sahdra (2014)	designs			

6	Mikulincer, Shaver, Sahdra, Bar-On (2013)	Observational/ Cross sectional	Interdisciplinary Centre in Herzliya and the University of California.	Grant from the Fetzer Institute.	None
7	Monin, Feeney, & Schulz (2012)	Observational/ Cross sectional	Carnegie Mellon University	Yale School of Public Health Carnegie Mellon University University of Pittsburgh	None
8	Rholes, Simpson, & Orina (1999)	Observational/ Cross sectional	Texas A&M University	National Institute of Mental Health Grant.	None
9	Simpson, Rholes, Oriña, & Grich (2002)	Observational/ Cross sectional	Texas A&M University	National Institute of Mental Health Grant.	None
10	Simpson, Rholes, & Nelligan (1992)	Observational/ Cross sectional	Texas A&M University	Department of Psychology, Texas A&M University.	None

# Table 4: Participant characteristics from included studies

	Study	No. of couples <i>Analysis</i> <i>N</i> =	Age	Length/stage of relationship	Ethnicity	Socio- economic status	Sexuality
1	Cobb, Davila, & Bradbury (2001)	172 161	Wives mean age = 26 year (SD=3.4) Husbands mean age = 27.6 years (SD= 3.9)	All newlyweds (1 <sup>st</sup> marriage) > 6 months.	Wives = 61% Caucasian, 15% Asian American/ Pacific Islander, 5% African American, 16% Latina/ Chicana, 2% Middle Eastern, and 1% identified themselves as "other". Husbands = 67% Caucasian, 13% Asian American/ Pacific Islander, 4% African American, 15% Latino/ Chicano, 1 % Middle Eastern.	Wives = 16.2 years of education (SD = 2) Median annual income ranged from \$11,000- \$20,000. Husbands = 15.6 years of education (SD = 2.2) Median annual income range from \$21,000 to \$30,000.	Not reported

2	Collins & Feeney (2000)	93 <i>9</i> 3	"Caregivers" mean age = 19.8 (range 17- 33) "Care receivers" mean age = 19 years (17-26).	Mean relationship length = 12.6 months (1-60 months)	Not reported.	Not reported.	One lesbian couple, the remaining were heterosexual.
3	Feeney & Collins (2001)	202 192	"Support recipients" mean age = 19.1 years (range = 17-33). Caregivers mean age = 19.5 years (17- 28 years).	Mean relationship length = 14. 4 months (1-95 months). Dating 93%, married or engaged 7%.	Not reported.	Not reported	Not reported.
4	Jayamaha, Girme, & Overall (2016)	Study one =61 couples Follow up =47 couples Study two = 100 Follow up = N	Study 1 mean age = 23 years. Study 2 mean age = 22.64 years.	Study 1 = 15% married, 49% cohabiting, 30% serious, 6% steady/dating. Mean relationship length = 2.81 years. Study 2 = 13% married, 36% cohabiting, 47% serious, 4% steady/dating Mean relationship length = 3.28 years.	Not reported.	Not reported	All heterosexual couples in both studies.

		not reported Not reported					
5	Mikulincer, Shaver, Bar- On, Sahdra (2014)	Study 1 = 80 Study 2 = 120 Not reported	Study 1 = Men's mean age = 25.36. Women's mean age = 23.63. Study 2= Men's mean age = 22.59. Women's mean age = 21.24.	Study 1 = Dating 100% Mean relationship duration = 17.63 months. Study 2= Dating 100%. Mean relationship duration = 19.33 months. All couples in both studies dating >6 months.	Study 1 = all Israeli participants Study 2 = all participants living in California Further breakdown of ethnicity data were not reported.	Not reported.	All heterosexual couples in both studies.
6	Mikulincer, Shaver, Sahdra, Bar- On (2013)	78 Israeli 136 American 214	Men's mean age = 24.54. Women's mean age = 23.76.	Mean relationship duration = 24.05 months. All couples dating >6 months.	78 Israeli 136 American Further breakdown of ethnicity data were not reported.	Not reported.	All heterosexual
7	Monin, Feeney, & Schulz (2012)	75 75	Mean age = 22 (range 18-36, SD = 3.63).	11 married couples, 64 dating couples.	Caucasian 84%, Asian 46%, African American 6%,	Professional degrees 19%, Graduate	Not reported.

				Mean relationship duration = 30 months (range = 6-216, SD=34.49).	Hispanic 1%, Identified as other 13%.	school 24%, Associate degrees 2%, college educated 77% and high school only 2%.	
8	Rholes, Simpson, & Orina (1999)	83 Not reported	Men's mean age = 19.5. Women's mean age = 18.9.	Mean relationship duration = 17.9 months. All couples dating >3 months.	Not reported.	All recruited from university undergraduate pool. Further breakdown not reported	All heterosexual.
9	Simpson, Rholes, Oriña, & Grich (2002)	90 Not reported	Men's mean age = 20.10. Women's mean age = 19.03.	Dating others as well as partner = 5, Dating exclusively = 77, Engaged = 5, Married = 2. Mean relationship duration = 17.03 months. All couples dating >3 months.	Not reported.	All recruited from university undergraduate pool. Further breakdown not reported.	Not reported.
10	Simpson, Rholes, & Nelligan (1992)	83 Not reported	Men's mean age = 19.5. Women's mean age = 18.9.	Dating others as well as partner = 15, Dating exclusively = 63, Engaged = 5.	Not reported.	All recruited from university undergraduate pool.	All heterosexual.

	duratio	relationship on = 17.9	Further breakdown not	
	month	S.	reported	
	All cou	uples dating >3		
	month	S.		

# Table 5: Variables measured and interaction method.

Study	Attachment measure(s)	Caregiving measure(s)	Other variables measured	Videotaped interaction
Cobb et al (2001)	The Relationship Questionnaire (RQ) (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991).	Social Support Interaction Coding System (SSICS) (Bradbury & Pasch, 1992)	Marital Adjustment Test (MAT) (Locke & Wallace, 1959).	Two discussions regarding what each person would like to change in self (take turns as helper and helpee)
Collins & Feeney (2000)	Adult Attachment Scale (AAS) (version of) (Collins & Read, 1990).	7-point Likert scales rating partner's behaviour (e.g. supportive, listening, emotional and descriptive disclosure, listening-attentive, understanding, blaming, overall support effort.	Relationship quality (adapted from Collins & Read, 1990). 7-point Likert scales:	'Care-seeker' disclosed a stressful problem to 'care- giver'.
	Bartholomew's four attachment prototypes (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991).	Coding scheme (Barbee & Cunningham, 1995). Rated support behaviour - critical and blaming, controlling and invalidating, self-focused, expressed warmth and love, empathy and understanding.	-perceived 'stressfulness' of the problem. -pre and post-interaction mood.	
Feeney & Collins (2001)	Experiences in close relationships scale (ECR; Brennan, Clarke and Shaver, 1998) Bartholomew's four	The Empathic Concern and Perspective-Taking Subscales of the Interpersonal Reactivity Inventory (Davis, 1983). Likert scales. -Emotional empathy -Social support knowledge and efficacy beliefs	Likert scales -chronic self-focus Communal and Exchange Orientation Scales (Clark et al, 1987)	'Support recipient' told to prepare and give a videotaped speech (intended to stress) IV: high/low need condition – caregivers lead to believe
	attachment prototypes (Bartholomew & Horowitz, 1991).	<ul> <li>-Altruistic/ Unselfish motivations for caregiving</li> <li>-Egoistic/ Selfish motivations for caregiving</li> <li>Caregiving Questionnaire (Kunce &amp; Shaver, 1994).</li> </ul>	Commitment scale (Van Lange et al, 1997)	support recipient was extremely nervous or not very nervous.
		Quality of Relationships Inventory (modified to reflect caregiving) (Pierce, Sarason & Sarason, 1991).	Inclusion of Other in the Self Scale (Aron et al., 1992)	'Care giver' wrote a note to partner (supportiveness was coded).
----------------------------	--	--	---	---
		Bespoke coding scheme - emotional, instrumental, and negative support.	Relationship Closeness Inventory's Strength Scale (modified) (Berscheid, Snyder, & Omoto, 1989)	
			Trust Scale (Rempel, Holmes & Zanna, 1985).	
Jayamaha et al (2016)	The Adult Attachment Questionnaire (AAQ; Simpson et al, 1996).	Coding scheme (Barbee & Cunningham, 1995).	Short form Perceived Relationship Quality Component inventory (PRQC) (Fletcher, Simpson & Thomas, 2000)	'Support recipient' discussed a personal goal with the 'support provider'
			Likert scales -support recipients distress -support providers felt valued and appreciated.	
Mikulincer et al (2014)	ECR scale (Brennan et al, 1998)	Study 1 = Caregiver's provision of safe haven support and care seekers behaviours rated by a coding scheme developed by Collins and Feeney (2000)	Relationship Assessment Scale (Hendrick, 1988). WHOTO Questionnaire to elicit names of attachment	Study 1 – 'Care seeker' discloses personal problem to the 'caregiver'. IV1: neutral/security priming.
		Study 2 = Caregivers' secure base provision and care seeker's behaviours rated by a modified version of the coding scheme developed by Feeney	figures (Fraley & Davis, 1997).	IV2: self-worth threat/ control condition.
		and Thrush (2010).	Stroop colour naming task (for cognitive depletion).	Study 2 – 'Care seeker' disclosed personal goals for the future to the 'caregiver'.

				IV1: neutral/security priming. IV2: mental/no-depletion condition.
Mikulincer et al (2013)	ECR scale (Brennan et al, 1998).	Collins and Feeney's version of Barbee and Cunningham (1995) coding scheme.	WHOTO questionnaire to elicit names of attachment figures (Fraley & Davis, 1997)	The 'care-seeker' disclosed a personal problem to the 'care-giver' IV1: cognitive/no depletion condition.
			Relationship Assessment Scale (Hendrick, 1988) Stroop colour naming task	IV2: neutral/security priming. Couple reunited and discussion of care seekers
Monin et al (2012)	ECR scale (Brennan et al, 1998).	Likert scales: -caregiver's perceptions of support seekers expressed anxiety. -caregiver's negative interpretations of support seekers anxiety expression	(for cognitive depletion). Likert scales: -baseline felt-anxiety -relationship satisfaction. -support seekers felt and expressed anxiety. -caregivers personal	issue recorded. 'Support seeker' told to prepare and give a videotaped speech rated by judges (intended to stress). 'Caregivers' told s/he will be participating in a fun puzzle
Rholes et al	AAQ (Simpson et al,	Bespoke coding scheme, similar to Simpson, Rholes and Orina (2002). Likert scales coded women (care seekers) on:	distress, compassion and anger. Love scale (Rubin, 1970)	activity. Spontaneous interaction observed. Stress manipulation applied
(1999)	1996).	<ul> <li>'Distress-Anxiety'</li> <li>'Comfort-Support' seeking behaviours</li> <li>Likert scales coded men (caregivers) on:</li> <li>'Reassurance-Emotional Support' provision behaviours</li> </ul>	Relationship Closeness Inventory (Berscheid, Snyder, & Omoto, 1989)	to 'care-seeker' (blood pressure taken, lead to believe she will be involved in something anxiety arousing). Spontaneous interaction of the couple observed.
Simpson et al (2002)	Adult Attachment Interview (AAI; Main & Goldwyn, 1994).	Coded men (care-seekers) on distress and support seeking behaviours.	Big Five personality traits (Goldberg, 1990)	Stress manipulation applied to 'care-seeker' (blood pressure taken, lead to

	AAQ (Simpson et al, 1996).	Coded women (caregivers) on emotional support/reassurance giving behaviours.	Relationship Satisfaction Scale (Hendrick, 1988).	believe he will be involved in something anxiety arousing). Spontaneous interaction of the couple observed.
Simpson et al (1992)	Likert-type version of the Hazan and Shavers (1987) measure of three attachment styles.	Likert scales coded women (care-seekers) on: 'Distress-Anxiety' 'Comfort-Support' seeking behaviours Likert scales coded men (caregivers) on: 'Reassurance-Emotional Support' provision behaviours. Physical behaviour.	Love scale (Rubin, 1970) Relationship Closeness Inventory (Berscheid et al, 1989	Stress manipulation applied to 'care-seeker' (blood pressure taken, lead to believe she will be involved in something anxiety arousing). Spontaneous interaction of the couple observed.

# Table 6: Details of coding schemes used in studies to analyse caregiving behaviour.

Study	Coding scheme	Elements	Intraclass correlations/ Interrater reliabilities
Collins and	Variation of Barbee and	Rated 4 types of caregiving strategy behaviours; solve, solace, dismiss	ICCs = Ranged from
Feeney (2000)	Cunningham (1995)	and escape	0.79-0.90
Mikulincer et al	Variation of Collins and	As above plus rated caregivers listening attentively, communicated	ICCs = Ranged from
(2013)	Feeney (2000)	understanding, and blaming behaviours, and the overall support effort.	0.81-0.89
Mikulincer et al	Study 1 = modified	Study 1 = as above plus rated instrumental support (physical, tangible	Study 1
(2014)	version of Collins and	forms of support), emotional support (understanding, encouraging,	ICCs= Ranged from
	Feeney (2000	reassuring).	0.84-0.89.
	Study 2 = modified	Study 2 = for caregiver's secure base provision (the rate at which	Study 2
	version of Feeney &	availability, encouragement of partners exploration and lack of	ICCs = Ranged from
	Trush (2010).	interference behaviours occurred).	0.89-0.94
Jayamaha et al	Variation of Barbee and	Rated critical and blaming, controlling and invalidating, self-focused,	ICCs = Ranged from
(2016)	Cunningham (1995)	expressed warmth, love, empathy and understanding.	0.87-0.97.
Cobb et al (2001)	SSICS	Coded behaviours that were 'positive' (e.g. helpful questions,	IRRs = ranged from
		validation) and 'negative' (being inattentive or disengaged, criticizing).	0.75 to 0.86.
Simpson et al	Bespoke coding scheme	Coded caregivers on global adjectives (e.g. warm, self-confident,	IRRs = ranged from
(1992)		responsive to partner's needs), conversation ratings (whether the	0.41-0.83
		caregiver tried to avoid or downplay the care-seekers comments) and	
		physical behaviour ratings (number of times there were approach	
		behaviours, e.g. touching partner, smiles and resistance/avoidance	
		behaviours e.g. moving away, resisting contact).	
		5 items were excluded from analyses due to low IRRs.	
Rholes et al	Simpson et al's (1992)	As above, coded during both the 'recovery period' and the stress	IRR = 0.77
(1999)		manipulation. Also coded overt anger.	

In Simpson et al (2002).	Modified version of Simpson et al's (1992)	Rated global adjectives (e.g. helpful, responsive, emotionally avoidant)	IRRs = ranging from 0.55-0.73
Feeney and Collins (2001)	Bespoke coding scheme		ICC's= 0.88, 0.89 and 0.90, respectively

### Mental Health and Prevention Author Guidelines

Retrieved from https://www.elsevier.com/journals/mental-health-andprevention/2212-6570/guide-for-authors#3700

*Mental Health & Prevention* is a peer reviewed journal dedicated to the prevention of mental and behavioural disorders and mental ill health, and the promotion of mental well-being. Its scope encompasses universal, selective and indicated prevention and mental health promotion across the lifespan. All mental and behavioural disorders are covered, as well as suicide and self-injury. The journal does not cover early intervention or treatment of mental and behavioural disorders. Submissions are welcome on the following topics:

- Research on the need for prevention
- Research contributing to the development of interventions
- Descriptions of major programs, where there is accompanying evaluation
- Evaluations of interventions to prevent disorders or reduce risk factors, including controlled and uncontrolled trials and qualitative studies
- Protocols for trials
- Research on risk or protection factors that has implications for prevention
- Psychometrics of prevention measures
- Economics of prevention
- Workforce development
- Prevention policy
- Systematic reviews on any of the above topics

Keywords: Mental health, mental disorders, behavioural disorders, mental well-being, primary prevention, secondary prevention, universal prevention, selective prevention, indicated prevention, promotion, neurodevelopmental disorders, mood disorders, anxiety disorders, schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders, feeding or eating disorders, substance use disorders, impulse control disorders, personality disorders, neurocognitive disorders, disruptive behaviour or dissocial disorders, suicide and self-injury

### Contact details for submission

Please submit your article via https://www.evise.com/evise/jrnl/MHP.

### Submission checklist

You can use this list to carry out a final check of your submission before you send it to the journal for review. Please check the relevant section in this Guide for Authors for more details.

### Ensure that the following items are present:

One author has been designated as the corresponding author with contact details:

- E-mail address
- Full postal address

All necessary files have been uploaded:

Manuscript:

- Include keywords
- All figures (include relevant captions)
- All tables (including titles, description, footnotes)
- Ensure all figure and table citations in the text match the files provided
- Indicate clearly if color should be used for any figures in print

Graphical Abstracts / Highlights files (where applicable)

Supplemental files (where applicable)

Further considerations

- Manuscript has been 'spell checked' and 'grammar checked'
- All references mentioned in the Reference List are cited in the text, and vice versa
- Permission has been obtained for use of copyrighted material from other sources (including the Internet)

• A competing interests statement is provided, even if the authors have no competing interests to declare

- Journal policies detailed in this guide have been reviewed
- Referee suggestions and contact details provided, based on journal requirements

For further information, visit our Support Center.

# Before You Begin

### Ethics in publishing

Please see our information pages on <u>Ethics in publishing</u> and <u>Ethical guidelines for</u> journal publication.

### Declaration of Interest

All authors must disclose any financial and personal relationships with other people or organizations that could inappropriately influence (bias) their work. Examples of potential conflicts of interest include employment, consultancies, stock ownership, honoraria, paid expert testimony, patent applications/registrations, and grants or other funding. Authors must disclose any interests in two places:

- 1. A summary declaration of interest statement in the title page file (if double-blind) or the manuscript file (if single-blind). If there are no interests to declare then please state this: 'Declarations of interest: none'. This summary statement will be ultimately published if the article is accepted.
- 2. Detailed disclosures as part of a separate Declaration of Interest form, which forms part of the journal's official records. It is important for potential interests to be declared in both places and that the information matches. <u>Click here</u> for a generic Conflict of Interest/Author Agreement form. <u>More information</u>

Please note : The conflict of interest statement should include information on the following:

- Conflict of interest
- Funding
- Intellectual property (patents, copyrights etc.)
- Research ethics
- Authorship

### Submission declaration and verification

Submission of an article implies that the work described has not been published previously (except in the form of an abstract, a published lecture or academic thesis, see '<u>Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication</u>' for more information), that it is not under consideration for publication elsewhere, that its publication is approved by all authors and tacitly or explicitly by the responsible authorities where the work was carried out, and that, if accepted, it will not be published elsewhere in the same form, in English or in any other language, including electronically without the written consent of the copyright-holder. To verify originality, your article may be checked by the originality detection service <u>Crossref Similarity Check</u>.

### Preprints

Please note that <u>preprints</u> can be shared anywhere at any time, in line with Elsevier's <u>sharing policy</u>. Sharing your preprints e.g. on a preprint server will not count as prior publication (see '<u>Multiple, redundant or concurrent publication</u>' for more information).

### Use of inclusive language

Inclusive language acknowledges diversity, conveys respect to all people, is sensitive to differences, and promotes equal opportunities. Articles should make no assumptions about the beliefs or commitments of any reader, should contain nothing which might imply that one individual is superior to another on the grounds of race, sex, culture or any other characteristic, and should use inclusive language throughout. Authors should ensure that writing is free from bias, for instance by using 'he or she', 'his/her' instead of 'he' or 'his', and by making use of job titles that are free of stereotyping (e.g. 'chairperson' instead of 'chairman' and 'flight attendant' instead of 'stewardess').

### Changes to authorship

Authors are expected to consider carefully the list and order of authors **before** submitting their manuscript and provide the definitive list of authors at the time of the original submission. Any addition, deletion or rearrangement of author names in the authorship list should be made only **before** the manuscript has been accepted and only if approved by the journal Editor. To request such a change, the Editor must receive the following from the **corresponding author**: (a) the reason for the change in author list and (b) written confirmation (e-mail, letter) from all authors that they agree with the addition, removal or rearrangement. In the case of addition or removal of authors, this includes confirmation from the author being added or removed.

Only in exceptional circumstances will the Editor consider the addition, deletion or rearrangement of authors **after** the manuscript has been accepted. While the Editor considers the request, publication of the manuscript will be suspended. If the manuscript has already been published in an online issue, any requests approved by the Editor will result in a corrigendum.

### **Clinical trial results**

In line with the position of the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors, the journal will not consider results posted in the same clinical trials registry in which primary registration resides to be prior publication if the results posted are presented in the form of a brief structured (less than 500 words) abstract or table. However, divulging results in other circumstances (e.g., investors' meetings) is discouraged and may jeopardise consideration of the manuscript. Authors should fully disclose all posting in registries of results of the same or closely related work.

### Reporting clinical trials

Randomized controlled trials should be presented according to the CONSORT guidelines. At manuscript submission, authors must provide the CONSORT checklist accompanied by a flow diagram that illustrates the progress of patients through the trial, including recruitment, enrollment, randomization, withdrawal and completion, and a detailed description of the randomization procedure. The <u>CONSORT checklist</u> and template flow diagram are available online.

### Registration of clinical trials

Registration in a public trials registry is a condition for publication of clinical trials in this journal in accordance with <u>International Committee of Medical Journal</u> <u>Editors</u> recommendations. Trials must register at or before the onset of patient enrolment. The clinical trial registration number should be included at the end of the abstract of the article. A clinical trial is defined as any research study that prospectively assigns human participants or groups of humans to one or more health-related interventions to evaluate the effects of health outcomes. Health-related outcome (for example drugs, surgical procedures, devices, behavioural treatments, dietary interventions, and process-of-care changes). Health outcomes include any biomedical or health-related measures obtained in patients or participants, including pharmacokinetic measures and adverse events. Purely observational studies (those in which the assignment of the medical intervention is not at the discretion of the investigator) will not require registration.

### Copyright

Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' (see <u>more information</u> on this). An e-mail will be sent to the corresponding author confirming receipt of the manuscript together with a 'Journal Publishing Agreement' form or a link to the online version of this agreement.

Subscribers may reproduce tables of contents or prepare lists of articles including abstracts for internal circulation within their institutions. <u>Permission</u> of the Publisher is required for resale or distribution outside the institution and for all other derivative works, including compilations and translations. If excerpts from other copyrighted works are included, the author(s) must obtain written permission from the copyright owners and credit the source(s) in the article. Elsevier has <u>preprinted forms</u> for use by authors in these cases.

For gold open access articles: Upon acceptance of an article, authors will be asked to complete an 'Exclusive License Agreement' (more information). Permitted third party reuse of gold open access articles is determined by the author's choice of <u>user license</u>.

### Author rights

As an author you (or your employer or institution) have certain rights to reuse your work. <u>More information</u>.

### Elsevier supports responsible sharing

Find out how you can share your research published in Elsevier journals.

### Role of the funding source

You are requested to identify who provided financial support for the conduct of the research and/or preparation of the article and to briefly describe the role of the sponsor(s), if any, in study design; in the collection, analysis and interpretation of data; in the writing of the report; and in the decision to submit the article for publication. If the funding source(s) had no such involvement then this should be stated.

### Funding body agreements and policies

Elsevier has established a number of agreements with funding bodies which allow authors to comply with their funder's open access policies. Some funding bodies will reimburse the author for the gold open access publication fee. Details of <u>existing</u> agreements are available online.

### **Open access**

This journal offers authors a choice in publishing their research:

### Subscription

• Articles are made available to subscribers as well as developing countries and patient groups through our <u>universal access programs</u>.

• No open access publication fee payable by authors.

• The Author is entitled to post the <u>accepted manuscript</u> in their institution's repository and make this public after an embargo period (known as green Open Access). The <u>published journal article</u> cannot be shared publicly, for example on ResearchGate or Academia.edu, to ensure the sustainability of peer-reviewed research in journal publications. The embargo period for this journal can be found below.

### Gold open access

• Articles are freely available to both subscribers and the wider public with permitted reuse.

• A gold open access publication fee is payable by authors or on their behalf, e.g. by their research funder or institution.

Regardless of how you choose to publish your article, the journal will apply the same peer review criteria and acceptance standards.

For gold open access articles, permitted third party (re)use is defined by the following <u>Creative Commons user licenses</u>:

### Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY)

Lets others distribute and copy the article, create extracts, abstracts, and other revised versions, adaptations or derivative works of or from an article (such as a translation), include in a collective work (such as an anthology), text or data mine the article, even for commercial purposes, as long as they credit the author(s), do not represent the author as endorsing their adaptation of the article, and do not modify the article in such a way as to damage the author's honor or reputation.

### Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs (CC BY-NC-ND)

For non-commercial purposes, lets others distribute and copy the article, and to include in a collective work (such as an anthology), as long as they credit the author(s) and provided they do not alter or modify the article.

The gold open access publication fee for this journal is **USD 1700**, excluding taxes. Learn more about Elsevier's pricing policy: <u>https://www.elsevier.com/openaccesspricing</u>.

### Green open access

Authors can share their research in a variety of different ways and Elsevier has a number of green open access options available. We recommend authors see our <u>open access page</u> for further information. Authors can also self-archive their manuscripts immediately and enable public access from their institution's repository after an embargo period. This is the version that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and in editor-author communications. Embargo period: For subscription articles, an appropriate amount of time is needed for journals to deliver value to subscribing customers before an article becomes freely available to the public. This is the embargo period and it begins from the date the article is formally published online in its final and fully citable form. <u>Find out more</u>.

This journal has an embargo period of 12 months.

### Elsevier Researcher Academy

<u>Researcher Academy</u> is a free e-learning platform designed to support early and mid-career researchers throughout their research journey. The "Learn" environment at Researcher Academy offers several interactive modules, webinars, downloadable guides and resources to guide you through the process of writing for research and going through peer review. Feel free to use these free resources to improve your submission and navigate the publication process with ease.

### Language (usage and editing services)

Please write your text in good English (American or British usage is accepted, but not a mixture of these). Authors who feel their English language manuscript may require editing to eliminate possible grammatical or spelling errors and to conform to correct scientific English may wish to use the <u>English Language Editing</u> <u>service</u> available from Elsevier's Author Services.

#### **Research Ethics**

Studies on patients or volunteers require ethics committee approval and informed consent, which should be documented in the paper.

### Patient Consent to Publication

Please include a consent statement in the Patient Consent section of the manuscript. Specify who provided consent (patient or legal guardian) and whether consent was obtained in writing.

Appropriate consents, permissions and releases must be obtained where an author wishes to include case details or other personal information or images of patients and any other individuals in an Elsevier publication. Written consents must be retained by the author and copies of the consents or evidence that such consents have been obtained must be provided to Elsevier on request. For more information, please review the *Elsevier Policy on the Use of Images or Personal Information of Patients or other Individuals*, <u>https://www.elsevier.com/patient-consent-policy</u>. Unless you have written permission from the patient (or, where applicable, the next of kin), the personal details of any patient included in any part of the article and in any supplementary materials (including all illustrations and videos) must be removed before submission. **Submission** 

Our online submission system guides you stepwise through the process of entering your article details and uploading your files. The system converts your article files to a single PDF file used in the peer-review process. Editable files (e.g., Word, LaTeX) are required to typeset your article for final publication. All correspondence, including notification of the Editor's decision and requests for revision, is sent by e-mail.

#### Referees

Please submit the names and institutional e-mail addresses of several potential referees. For more details, visit our <u>Support site</u>. Note that the editor retains the sole right to decide whether or not the suggested reviewers are used.



### **Peer review**

This journal operates a double blind review process. All contributions will be initially assessed by the editor for suitability for the journal. Papers deemed suitable are then typically sent to a minimum of two independent expert reviewers to assess the scientific quality of the paper. The Editor is responsible for the final decision.

### Service specification



### Tool: Professional Quality of Life Scale (ProQOL)

Compassion Satisfaction and Compassion Fatigue (ProQOL) Version 5 (2009)

When you 'help' people you have direct contact with their lives. As you may have found, your compassion for those you 'help' can affect you in positive and negative ways. Below are some questions about your experiences, both positive and negative, as a 'helper'. Consider each of the following questions about you and your current work situation. Select the number that honestly reflects how frequently you experienced these things in the last 30 days. Note: The terms Helper/Help is used as it is a generic questionnaire and can be taken to mean SHS worker/those you work with etc.

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very Often
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
1. I am happy.					
2. I am preoccupied with more than one person I [help].					
3. I get satisfaction from being able to [help] people.					
4. I feel connected to others.					
5. I jump or am startled by unexpected sounds.					
6. I feel invigorated after working with those I [help].					
7. I find it difficult to separate my personal life from my life as a [helper].					
8. I am not as productive at work because I am losing sleep over traumatic experiences of					
a person I [help].					
9. I think that I might have been affected by the traumatic stress of those I [help].					
10. I feel trapped by my job as a [helper].					

11. Because of my [helping], I have felt "on edge" about various things.			
12. I like my work as a [helper].			
13. I feel depressed because of the traumatic experiences of the people I [help].			

	Never	Rarely	Sometimes	Often	Very Often
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
14. I feel as though I am experiencing the trauma of someone I have [helped].					
15. I have beliefs that sustain me.					
16. I am pleased with how I am able to keep up with [helping] techniques and protocols.					
17. I am the person I always wanted to be.					
18. My work makes me feel satisfied.					
19. I feel worn out because of my work as a [helper].					
20. I have happy thoughts and feelings about those I [help] and how I could help them.					
21. I feel overwhelmed because my case [work] load seems endless.					
22. I believe I can make a difference through my work.					

23. I avoid certain activities or situations because they remind me of frightening			
experiences of the people I [help].			
24. I am proud of what I can do to [help].			
25. As a result of my [helping], I have intrusive, frightening thoughts.			
26. I feel "bogged down" by the system.			
27. I have thoughts that I am a "success" as a [helper].			
28. I can't recall important parts of my work with trauma victims.			
29. I am a very caring person.			
30. I am happy that I chose to do this work			

© B. HudnallStamm, 2009. Professional Quality of Life: Compassion Satisfaction and Fatigue Version 5

### Knowledge, Confidence, Worries Questionnaire

Thank you for agreeing to participate in this training session exploring links between disrupted attachment, developmental trauma and children's behaviour.

The training has been developed in response to the existing evidence base and feedback but it is designed to be an evolving process. That is, we hope that part of this training will involve an opportunity to work collaboratively with you in order to tailor the training to meet your needs as a staff group and the young people you support. To assess base-line perceptions of this area and support evaluation and development of the training, please could you take the time to read and complete the following questions.

	Strongly Agree	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Strongly Disagree
<ol> <li>I know about links between trauma and challenging behaviours. (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I know about the functions of attachment behaviours and healthy development (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I have an understanding of the influences on attachment style (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I have an understanding about the impact of developmental trauma on a child's neurological development (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I have an awareness of the impact of developmental trauma and attachment difficulties on a child's long term outcomes (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I would know how to recognise signs of trauma in a child. (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>If I suspected trauma may be linked to presenting behaviours I would know how to ask about it. (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
8. If a child's referral indicated trauma I would feel confident to explore this with them. (C)	0	0	0	0	0

Please answer as honestly as possible to provide thorough evaluation

<ol> <li>I often feel anxious to ask about trauma in case I upset the child. (W)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
10. I am worried about asking about trauma in case I can't deal with it. (W)	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>The impact on me of hearing about traumatic experiences worries me about working with trauma (vicarious traumatisation) (W)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
12. I worry about opening up a 'can of worms' and not knowing how to contain it. (W)	0	0	0	0	0
<ul><li>13. If a child disclosed a traumatic experience</li><li>I would feel confident of how to respond and proceed (C)</li></ul>	0	0	0	0	0
14. I have a thorough understanding of the different sorts of approaches that could support a child to heal and thrive following the experience of early trauma (K)	0	0	0	0	0
15. I feel confident that I could implement some of these approaches (C)	0	0	0	0	0
16. I worry that I would not know when was a good time to refer to another service (W)	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>17. I'm unsure whether my service would support me to do attachment informed work with children with attachment difficulties (C)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
<ul><li>18. I worry that I would not have enough support or supervision to work with trauma (W)</li></ul>	0	0	0	0	0
<ol> <li>I recognise the importance of having an awareness of my own attachment style and trigger points when working in the context of attachment and developmental trauma (K)</li> </ol>	0	0	0	0	0
20. I recognise the importance of considering how to provide containment and support within my team when working with young	0	0	0	0	0

people with disrupted attachment and developmental trauma (K)			

21. Overall how confident do you feel to consider trauma experiences and attachment difficulties to inform your work? (C)

Extremely	Very	Neutral	Not Very	Not at all
0	0	0	0	0

### Skills development session model flowchart

## **Skills Development Session Model**

#### PRE-SESSION

- The facilitators and support person brings along: consultation toolkit, pens, flipchart, evaluation measures, sticky notes, projector and laptop and FACE



Group agreement discussed: note that we will be pausing a number of times to comment on process and engagement

Using the "Your Reflections" document, collect hopes and expectations and capture on flipchart Initial SDS, consider reviewing the main training concepts using laptop (and projector)

DESCRIPTION, CLARIFICATION, EXPLORATION AND REFLECTION

- Person(s) presenting talks about their situation/case
- Facilitar ensures overall structure of discussion and captures: main concerns, strengths and genogram and timeline. Whilst also considering child presentation in different settings.

- Staff members not involved in case takes on a role in the presented case whilst listening (carer, social worker, family member, child, etc).

- The consultants facilitate discussion leading to increased understanding and joint problem solving- exploring relationships in development and in current placement (parent-infant dance)

- Time for brief reflection from each member who took on a role including personal theory generating, then consultees are invited to contribute to the discussion from their own perspective including clarification and personal theory generating

#### FORMULATION

- Personal reflections: What does this person elicit in you? How do you feel when you leave? What do you end up thinking about? Consider parallel processes, mirror neurons, supervision, containment

- Draw on understanding of attachment and impact of developmental trauma (upstairs/downstairs brain)
- Together develop formulation using IWM or Circles of Understanding and Pyramid of Need

#### STRATEGY GENERATING (MODELLING OF TECHNIQUES) and PLANNING

- Planning for further support internal and external to the team - either do as a whole group or split into smaller groups to gain further ideas (brainstorm outside the box possibilities e.g. PACE sample scripts, what the two hands might looks like, shield of shame).

- Drawing on PACE, ask the group to generate ideas on sticky notes and place them on each of the laminated PACE cards in relation to the case discussed. Reflect on the suggestions with the person bringing the case around their perception/impact of trying these. Is this something that would feel possible/realistic?

- Using the pyramid of need/Containment/ IWM, generate ideas from the team about what will child need, what will carer need, what will worker need and what will team need with feedback to senior managers if needed to generate further support or highlight barriers. Emphasis on therapeutic multi-agency network to support planned interventions, care planning.

- Drawing on PACE/ Connection before correction, ask the group to generate ideas on sticky notes and place them on each of the laminated PACE cards in relation to the case discussed. Reflect on the suggestions with the person bringing the case around their perception/impact of trying these. Is this something that would feel possible/realistic? Aim to focus on the consultees management of the client (no expert position of consultant).

POST-SESSION

Hopes for consultation revisited

Evaluation measure completed

### **Consent Form**

### Aneurin Bevan Health Board complies with the protection and use of Patient Information guidance issued by the DOH by informing you that all patient information must be used for legally

We are measuring the impact of this attachment informed training and skills development sessions programme so as to be able to understand what is most effective and to adapt our programme to fully meet your needs. This information will be extremely valuable in determining how to create positive changes for children and young people across settings.

This data will be immediately anonymised and your name will not be associated with it in any reports we produce. We are asking for your name on this occasion so that we can pair it with an ID number so that all your future data will be identifiable by this number only.

Please note, the data will be collated and overall themes will be discussed with managers to help them understand the needs of their teams and shape services accordingly. At no point will any individual response be identified or fed back to managers in order to protect your confidentiality when completing these forms.

I understand that I am giving consent voluntarily and that I can chose to withdraw my consent at any time, without giving a reason, and without this impacting upon the service I receive
I am aware that if I do not provide consent or withdraw consent, the information I provide will not be analysed or used in any form of feedback
I understand that the information I provide will be completely anonymised and I am happy for it to be statistically analysed and overarching themes to be included in the report that will be given to our team and managers to inform practice
I understand that the information I provide is incredibly useful to inform training and I am happy for the anonymised content to be reviewed by the Gwent attachment team to influence changes to the content of the training materials and/or guide the direction of the skills development sessions.

I am happy for anonymised quotes of my feedback to be shared with other professionals when reports or presentations of progress of the the Welsh CAMHS service must be delivered
I am happy for my anonymised data to be used in research projects and for findings of the impact of training to be disseminated through research outlets such as conferences or academic research articles.

Print Name(s)

Signed by Clinical Psychologist /Researcher

.....

Date .....

#### **Research and Development study approval letter**



If you require any further assistance please do not hesitate to contact the Research and Development Department.

Yours sincerely,



Acting Research Risk Review Panel Chairman

Advancing Knowledge, Enhancing Care

#### **Ethics Committee Study Approval Confirmation**

### Ethics Feedback - EC.18.04.10.5281



Mon 16/04/2018, 15:05 Laura Coote; Alice Reid-Williams; Marc Williams 🛛 Reply all

Inbox

#### Dear Laura & Alice,

The Ethics Committee has considered your PG project proposal: 1. Attachment informed working: does attachment training have an impact on compassion in frontline staff? 2. Attachment and trauma informed training for frontline staff: an evaluation of a new service. (EC.18.04.10.5281).

The project has been approved.

Please note that if any changes are made to the above project then you must notify the Ethics Committee.

Best wishes, Mark Jones

#### School of Psychology Research Ethics Committee

Cardiff University	Prifysgol Caerdydd
Tower Building	Adeilad y Tŵr
70 Park Place	70 Plas y Parc
Cardiff	Caerdydd
CF10 3AT	CF10 3AT
Tel: +44(0)29 208 70360	Ffôn: +44(0)29 208 70360
Email: psychethics@cardiff.ac.uk	E-bost: psychethics@caerdydd.ac.uk
http://psych.cf.ac.uk/aboutus/ethics.html	



#### Confirmatory factor analysis model: unstandardized estimates (covariances)



### Confirmatory factor analysis model: standardized estimates (correlations)



## Face validity questionnaire for KCW

## Key

- Definition of knowledge: Facts, information, and skills acquired through experience or education; the theoretical or practical understanding of a subject.
- Definition of confidence: A feeling of self-assurance arising from an appreciation of one's own abilities or qualities
- Definition of worry: feel or cause to feel anxious or troubled about actual or potential problems.

# **Questions**

# Do you think this item best measures 'knowledge', 'confidence' or 'worries' when working within a traumaattachment framework? Or do you think it measures something else? If so, what?

1. I know about links between trauma and challenging behaviours. (please tick)

- 'Knowledge' 'Confidence' 'Worries' Or other, what does it measure?
  2. I know about the functions of attachment behaviours and healthy development.
  'Knowledge' 'Confidence' 'Worries' Or 'other', what does it measure?
- 3. I have an understanding of the influences on attachment style.

	'Knowledge' ●	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
		standing about the i ical development.	mpact of developr	mental trauma on a
	'Knowledge' ●	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
		eness of the impact of the impact of the impact of the child's long term out	•	rauma and attachment
'Kn	owledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

6. I would know how to recognise signs of trauma in a child.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

7. If I suspected trauma may be linked to presenting behaviours I would know how to ask about them.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

8. If a child's referral indicated trauma I would feel confident to explore this with the adults in their lives.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
•			

9. I often feel anxious to ask about trauma in case I upset the child/carer.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

10. I am worried about asking about trauma in case I can't deal with it.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

11. The impact on me of hearing about traumatic experiences worries me about working with trauma (vicarious traumatisation)

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
12. I worry about ope	•	rms' and not	
'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	
•			Or 'other', what does it measure?

13. If a child disclosed a traumatic experience I would feel confident of how to respond and proceed.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
	•		

14. I have a thorough understanding of the different sorts of approaches that could support a child to heal and thrive following the experience of early trauma.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

15. I feel confident that I could implement some of these approaches.

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

16. I worry that I would not know when was a good time to refer to another service

'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

17. I'm unsure whether my service would support me to do attachment informed work with children with attachment difficulties.

	'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
	worry that I would auma	not have enough su	oport or superv	vision to work with
	Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
S	• .	ortance of having an ints when working in ma.		•
	'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
S	• .	•	•	ide containment and ext of attachment and
	'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?
		ent do you feel to con es to inform your wo		experiences and
	'Knowledge'	'Confidence'	'Worries'	Or 'other', what does it measure?

## Principal component analysis eigenvalue scree plot



#### Map of designing systematic review question



# PICOSS table for systematic review

Review Question	What are the effects of attachment style on caregiving in romantic relationships?
Population	Adults in romantic relationships, couples
Intervention	Measure of attachment style, caregiving measured either by observational videotaped interaction.
Comparator	Between the different attachment styles
Outcomes	Behavioural caregiving measure (videotaped interaction), compared by attachment style.
Study design	Observational
Setting	All applicable